
 

Rother District Council 
 

 

NOTE: Representations on any items on the Agenda must be received in 
writing by 9:00am on the Monday preceding the meeting. 

 

All Planning Committee meetings are audio recorded. 
 

This agenda can be made available in large print, Braille, 
audiotape/CD or in another language upon request. For all enquiries 

please contact julie.hollands@rother.gov.uk   
Tel: 01424 787811 

Rother District Council aspiring to deliver… 
an Efficient, Flexible and Effective Council, Sustainable Economic Prosperity, 

Stronger, Safer Communities and a Quality Physical Environment 

 

Planning Committee 
 
Date and Time 

 
- 

 
Thursday 16 July 2020  

 9:30am – 1:00pm and 2:00pm until close of business 
 (At the discretion of the Chairman, the timing of lunch may be varied) 
 

Venue - Remote Meeting 
 

 
Councillors appointed to the Committee: 
J. Vine-Hall (Chairman), S.M. Prochak (Vice-Chairman), Mrs M.L. Barnes, S.J. 
Coleman, G.C. Curtis, B.J. Drayson (ex-officio), S.J. Errington, A.E. Ganly, K.M. 
Harmer, J.M. Johnson, L.M. Langlands, C.A. Madeley, A.S. Mier, G.F. Stevens 
and R. Thomas. 
 
Substitute Members: J. Barnes, P.C. Courtel, H.J. Norton and H.L. Timpe. 
 

 
AGENDA 

 

1.   MINUTES   

 To authorise the Chairman to sign the minutes of the meeting of the Planning 
Committee held on the 18 June 2020 as a correct record of the proceedings. 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTES   

3.   ADDITIONAL AGENDA ITEMS   

 To consider such other items as the Chairman decides are urgent and due 
notice of which has been given to the Head of Paid Service by 12 noon on 
the day preceding the meeting. 

 

4.   WITHDRAWN APPLICATIONS   

 The Head of Service Strategy and Planning to advise Members of those 
planning applications on the agenda which have been withdrawn. 
 
RR/2020/296/P – BEXHILL – LITTLE COMMON RECREATION GROUND, 
GREEN LANE 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:julie.hollands@rother.gov.uk


 
 

NOTE: Representations on any items on the Agenda must be received in writing by 
9:00am on the Monday preceding the meeting. 

 

Enquiries – please ask for Julie Hollands (Tel: 01424 787811) 
For details of the Council, its elected representatives and meetings, visit the Rother District 

Council website www.rother.gov.uk 

5.   DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST   

 To receive any disclosure by Members of personal and disclosable pecuniary 
interests in matters on the agenda, the nature of any interest and whether the 
Member regards the personal interest as prejudicial under the terms of the 
Code of Conduct.  Members are reminded of the need to repeat their 
declaration immediately prior to the commencement of the item in question. 

 

6.   PLANNING APPLICATIONS - INDEX  (Pages 1 - 2) 

7.   RR/2017/457/P - FAIRLIGHT - FORMER MARKET GARDEN, LOWER 
WAITES LANE  (Pages 3 - 42) 

8.   RR/2020/296/P - BEXHILL - LITTLE COMMON RECREATION GROUND, 
GREEN LANE  (Pages 43 - 52) 

9.   RR/2020/485/P - BEXHILL - 1A DEVONSHIRE SQUARE, FLATS 1-4  
(Pages 53 - 62) 

10.   RR/2020/458/P - CATSFIELD - COVERTSIDE, POWDERMILL LANE  
(Pages 63 - 70) 

11.   MINISTRY OF HOUSING COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
COMPARATIVE PLANNING STATISTICS 2019  (Pages 71 - 72) 

12.   APPEALS  (Pages 73 - 76) 

 
Malcolm Johnston 
Executive Director 

Agenda Despatch Date: 8 July 2020 
 
NOTE: 
 
Due to the Government restrictions imposed as a result of COVID-19 pandemic in 
the United Kingdom, certain changes have been made to the arrangements for the 
Planning Committee meetings. 
 
As a temporary measure, the Planning Committee will be meeting remotely and may 
meet more frequently than the usual four weekly cycle.  However, prior notice of any 
additional meetings will be shown on the Council’s website and in the calendar of 
meeting dates.  The meetings will be live streamed via YouTube and viewable by the 
public on the website at the following link 
https://rother.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=533&Ver=4 
 
It is possible to still register to speak on planning applications that come to the 
Planning Committee, however our speaking rules have been slightly amended during 
this pandemic, please check the website for further details 
https://www.rother.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-committee/public-
speaking-at-planning-committee/ 

https://rother.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=533&Ver=4
https://www.rother.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-committee/public-speaking-at-planning-committee/
https://www.rother.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-committee/public-speaking-at-planning-committee/


pl200716 – Planning Applications - Index 

Rother District Council                                                                      
 

Report to - Planning Committee 
 

Date - 16 July 2020 
 

Report of the - Executive Director 
 

Subject - Planning Applications – Index 
 

 
Head of Service:  Tim Hickling 
 

 
Planning Committee Procedures 
 
Background Papers 
These are planning applications, forms and plans as presented in the agenda,  
pertinent correspondence between the applicant, agents, consultees and other 
representatives in respect of the application, previous planning applications and 
correspondence where relevant, reports to Committee, decision notices and appeal 
decisions which are specifically referred to in the reports.  Planning applications can 
be viewed on the planning website http://www.rother.gov.uk/planning  
 
Planning Committee Reports 
If you are viewing the electronic copy of the Planning Applications report to Planning 
Committee then you can access individual reported applications by clicking on the 
link (View application/correspondence) at the end of each report. 
 
Consultations 
Relevant statutory and non-statutory consultation replies that have been received 
after the report has been printed and before the Committee meeting will normally be 
reported orally in a summary form. 
 
Late Representations 
Unless representations relate to an item which is still subject to further consultation 
(and appears on the agenda as a matter to be delegated subject to the expiry of the 
consultation period) any further representations in respect of planning applications 
on the Planning Committee agenda must be received by the Head of Service 
Strategy and Planning in writing by 9am on the Monday before the meeting at the 
latest. Any representation received after this time cannot be considered. 
 
Subject to the previous reference to delegated items late petitions cannot be 
considered in any circumstance, as petitions will only be accepted prior to publication 
of the agenda in accordance with the guidance on submitting petitions found at 
http://www.rother.gov.uk/speakingatplanningcommittee   
 
Delegated Applications 
In certain circumstances the Planning Committee will indicate that it is only prepared   
to grant/refuse planning permission if/unless certain amendments to a proposal are 
undertaken or the application is subject to the completion of outstanding or further 
consultations.  In these circumstances the Head of Service Strategy and Planning 
can be delegated the authority to issue the decision of the Planning Committee once 
the requirements of the Committee has been satisfactorily complied with.  A 
delegated decision does not mean that planning permission or refusal will 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6

http://www.rother.gov.uk/planning
http://www.planning.rother.gov.uk/WAM/pas/findCaseFile.do?appNumber=rr????????
http://www.rother.gov.uk/speakingatplanningcommittee


pl200716 – Planning Applications - Index 

automatically be issued.  If there are consultation objections, difficulties, or 
negotiations which cannot be satisfactorily concluded, then the application will be 
reported back to the Planning Committee or reported via the (internal electronic) 
Notified D system as a means of providing further information for elected Members.  
This delegation also allows the Head of Service Strategy and Planning to negotiate 
and amend applications, conditions, reasons for refusal and notes commensurate 
with the instructions of the Committee. 
 

Applications requiring the applicant entering into an obligation under section 106 of 
the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) are also delegated.   
 

Order of Presentation 
The report on planning applications is presented in the following order as shown 
below: 
 
  

Agenda 
Item 

Reference Parish Site Address 
Page 
No. 

7 RR/2017/457/P FAIRLIGHT 
Former Market Garden, 
Lower Waites Lane 

3 

8 RR/2020/296/P BEXHILL 
Little Common Recreation 
Ground, Green Lane 

43 

9 RR/2020/485/P BEXHILL 
1A Devonshire Square, 
Flats 1 – 4 

53 

10 RR/2020/458/P CATSFIELD 
Covertside, Powdermill 
Lane 

63 

 

Page 2

http://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2017/457/P
http://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2020/296/P
http://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2020/485/P
http://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2020/458/P


pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

  

Page 3

Agenda Item 7



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

Rother District Council 
 

Report to   -  Planning Committee 

Date    - 16 July 2020  

Report of the  -  Executive Director 

Subject - Application RR/2017/457/P 

Address - Former Market Garden, Lower Waites Lane 

  FAIRLIGHT 

Proposal - Construction of 16 houses together with associated 
parking, access and wildlife area 

View application/correspondence 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION: It be RESOLVED to GRANT (FULL PLANNING) 
DELEGATED SUBJECT TO THE COMPLETION OF A SECTION 106 
AGREEMENT RELATING TO: 

 The completion of off-site road improvements at the junction of Lower 
Waites Lane and Smugglers Way. 

 Reptile relocation site. 
 

 
Head of Service: Tim Hickling 
 

 
Applicant:   Gemselect Ltd 
Case Officer: Mr S Batchelor 

(Email: samuel.batchelor@rother.gov.uk) 
Parish: FAIRLIGHT 
Ward Member(s): Councillor R.K. Bird and A.S. Mier 
  
Reason for Committee consideration:  Head of Service Strategy & Planning 
referral: In accordance with the scheme of delegation Committee 
consideration is required as the Applicant has submitted financial viability 
information to explain that no affordable housing can be provided. 
 
Statutory 13 week date: 30 May 2017 
Extension of time agreed to: 30 September 2019 (further extension requested) 
 

 
1.0 UPDATE 

 
1.1 This application was previously reported to Planning Committee on 15 

March 2018 where it was resolved to grant planning permission subject to 
the delegated completion of a Section 106 agreement relating to: 

 the provision of 6 shared ownership affordable housing units; 

 the completion of off-site road improvements at the junction of Lower 
Waites Lane and smugglers way; and 

 a reptile relocation site. 
 

Page 4

http://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2017/457/P
mailto:samuel.batchelor@rother.gov.uk


pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

1.2 The application was originally accompanied by a viability appraisal that was 
independently assessed by the District Valuation Service (DVS). At the time 
the DVS concluded that the development was able to bear an element of on-
site affordable housing. Whilst the applicant doubted the values that the 
DVS considered could be achieved, they were willing to enter into a legal 
agreement to provide 4 x 2 bedroom and 2 x 3 bedroom dwellings on a 
‘shared ownership for sale’ basis. At the time, the Housing and Asset 
Development Officer confirmed that was an acceptable offer and that the 
proposed mono-tenure and unit size mix specified was acceptable given the 
location and small number of dwellings involved. 

 
1.3 Since the resolution to grant planning permission was made the applicant 

has reconsidered their position and, despite the concession they were willing 
to make previously, are now more adamantly of the view that the provision 
of any affordable housing would make the scheme unviable. Therefore, a 
100% market housing scheme is now proposed. 

 
1.4 It is accepted that the assessment carried out by the DVS in 2017/2018 

confirmed that the scheme was only marginally viable at the time, and was 
not for example, capable of delivering a policy compliant level of affordable 
rented housing (4 rented and 2 shared ownership with a commuted sum of 
40% for the remaining provision). As stated, the view was taken at the time 
to agree 6 shared ownership dwellings to maximise onsite affordable 
housing delivery and to support scheme viability. Whilst this 
recommendation was based on the facts of the viability of the case it can 
also be said that the approach taken would provide some certainty in 
delivering the scheme, which was important in respect of securing a willing 
RP to take ownership of such a small number of affordable homes in a rural 
location. 

 
1.5 Following the committee resolution and during the Section 106 negotiations 

last year to secure this provision the applicant further raised the issue of 
viability, advising that several costs had increased since the DVS 
assessment was carried out in 2017. Given the specific issue of 
development costs, it was agreed that instead of a full review, Altair (in place 
of the DVS who did not have capacity to review the case) would 
independently review the specific cost assumptions considered to have 
increased since the previous was carried out, with the view that all other 
inputs would remain the same as agreed by the DVS in the above report. 

 
1.6 Altair’s findings and the applicant’s information are publicly available online. 

The submitted information and Altair’s view have been considered in 
consultation with the Housing and Asset Development Officer who, having 
reviewed Altairs report and findings, applied the revised cost increases in a 
‘Pod Plan’ financial assessment with all other key inputs remaining the 
same, as agreed previously by the DVS. The following can now be 
confirmed: 

 
1.7 The scheme generates a residual land value (RLV) of £144,778 based on 

17.5% profit on GDV limited to a wholly private scheme of 16 outright market 
sales. This totals a surplus of just £1,778 above the revised benchmark land 
value (BLV) of £143,000. Based on this assessment, the scheme is clearly 
not viable to deliver any onsite provision of affordable housing. 

 

Page 5



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

1.8 The Housing Development Officer further advises against the inclusion of 
any clawback of the above surplus (£1,788) as it is a very small amount of 
money which will, in any case, be quickly absorbed by legal costs to secure 
the provision in a legal agreement. 

 
1.9 The Housing and Asset Development Officer has also considered some 

alternative scenarios – such as if the Applicant were to continue to challenge 
the profit on GDV, which is quite likely. If a higher profit was sought, the 
residual value reduces significantly below the minimum BLV required (20% 
of GDV generates a RLV of just £36,262). 

 
1.10 As with previous viability arguments a full financial assessment in the form of 

a review mechanism is an option to consider at a later stage of the 
development process once cost assumptions become known. However, the 
Housing Development Officer recommends that given this is a small scheme 
that is not viable to deliver any affordable housing provision currently, that 
any mechanism is limited to independent review the above cost inputs only - 
with a trigger of 50% of properties occupied. Any surplus above the agreed 
BLV can then be ring-fenced for delivery of affordable housing in the district. 

 
1.11 Whilst the imposition of a review mechanism is advocated in the 

Government’s Planning Practice Guidance (Paragraph: 009 Reference ID: 
10-009-20190509), this needs to be agreed with the applicant, should be set 
out in planning policy and should be used in relevant circumstances. The 
Council’s current affordable housing policy does not have a specific position 
on viability reviews and the RICS guidance ‘Financial viability in planning’ 
states that “re-appraisals are generally suited to phased schemes over the 
longer term rather than a single phase scheme to be implemented 
immediately, which requires certainty.” With this in mind, and given the small 
size of the proposal, a review mechanism is not considered appropriate in 
this instance. 

 
1.12 A number of objections have been submitted since the viability information 

was updated These are set out below. These objections have been 
considered but they do not provide any material evidence to counter the 
applicant’s information or the conclusions of Altair and the Housing and 
Asset Development Officer. 

 
1.13 In addition to the revised development viability, since the previous 

committee, the Council have adopted the Development and Site Allocations 
Local Plan (DaSA). The main impact of this is that there are now a number 
of policies in relation to housing standards – namely DRM1, Water 
Efficiency, DHG3: Residential Internal Space Standards, DHG4: Accessible 
and Adaptable Homes and DHG7: External Residential Areas. 

 
1.14 The application of standard conditions will help address the requirements of 

policies DRM1 and DHG4. Furthermore, all the proposed homes exceed the 
internal space standards of Policy DHG3. 

 
1.15 Having regard to Policy DHG7, five of the proposed houses (plots 3, 5, 7, 9 

and 11) do not meet the minimum, normally expected, 10m minimum rear-
garden length. On average each is approximately 7m. 

 

Page 6



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

1.16 Whilst this policy requirement is expected to normally be met, in the first 
instance, this scheme was previously assessed and resolved to be approved 
before the policy was adopted. Once you also factor in the precarious 
viability situation, the fact that a brownfield site is being reused and factoring 
in the Council’s housing land supply position, it is considered that the short 
fall of the five units identified can be accepted. 

 
1.17 The previous committee report is appended below for information, but it is 

now recommended that planning permission be resolved to be approved 
without the requirement for affordable housing. 

 

 
2.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
2.1 Planning Notice 
 
2.1.1 Since the application was republicised four representations have been 

received generally objecting to the loss of affordable housing not being 
acceptable. 

 
2.1.2 One of the objections is more detailed and criticises the approach taken to 

the re-assessment of viability. Queries include why a fuller review was not 
been undertaken and states that the developer has not shown if anything 
less than 6 affordable units could be provided viably (i.e. 1-5 units). 

 
2.1.3 The Housing and Asset Development Officer’s approach to re-assessing the 

viability of the development is set out above and the focused approach was 
agreed given the relatively small size of the development and the applicant’s 
specific concern regarding development costs. 

 
2.1.4 It is also considered unnecessary for the applicant to show if a lesser 

amount of affordable housing can be provided as a 100% market scheme is 
only just viable. Adding in any further affordable housing would immediately 
make the development unviable. 

 
2.2 Fairlight Parish Council - NO OBJECTION but general comment as follows: 
 
2.2.1 1)  Fairlight Parish Council regrets that the 40% affordable housing units 

agreed at the outset by the developer are now considered non-viable. 
2)  However, it reluctantly accepts officers' advice that the scheme would 

not be viable with affordable housing as without this site it may create 
pressure to build extra dwellings on other sites within Fairlight. 

 

 
3.0 LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1 The proposal is for a type of development that is CIL liable. The total amount 

of CIL money to be received is subject to change, including a possible 
exemption, but the development could generate approximately £233,685. 

 
3.2 The proposal is one that would provide New Homes Bonus (subject to review 

by the Government). If New Homes Bonus were paid it could, assuming a 
Band D property, be approximately £106,944 over four years. 

 

Page 7



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT (FULL PLANNING) DELEGATED SUBJECT TO 
THE COMPLETION OF A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT RELATING TO: 

 The completion of off-site road improvements at the junction of Lower 
Waites Lane and Smugglers Way. 

 Reptile relocation site. 
 

 

CONDITIONS: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 
Reason: In accordance with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004). 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans and documents: 
Drawing Nos. 662/303 P2 dated 26 April 2017 
Drawing Nos. 021 P2, 022 P2, 023 P2, 024 P2, 025 P2, 026 P2, 027 P2 and 
030 P dated 6 July 2017 
Drawing Nos. 007 P3, 008 P3, 028 P3 and 031 P2 dated 8 August 2017 
Drawing Nos. 304 P4, 002 P5, 003 P5, 004 P5 006 P4 dated 27 November 
2017 
Drainage Strategy and Sustainable Drainage Management and Maintenance 
Plan (Issue B) Monson dated 11 July 2017 
8330P/301 Rev B Surface Water Drainage Layout and 8330P/302 Rev B Foul 
Water Drainage Layout dated 11 July 2017 
7556 100 P2 Proposed Carriageway and Access Alignment dated 1 
November 2007 
Written Scheme of Archaeological Investigation, Chris Butler Archaeological 
Services Project No. CBAS0525 dated June 2014 
Arboricultural Report, Sylvan Arb Ref: SA/91/14 dated 27 June 2014 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning, 
as advised in Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 022 Reference ID: 21a-
022-20140306. 

 
3. No development shall commence until the vehicular access serving the 

development and the improvements to Lower Waites lane and Smugglers 
Way have been constructed in accordance with the approved plan Drawing 
No. 7556 100 P2 dated 1/11/2007. 
Reason: A pre-commencement condition is required because the works are 
required to be carried out prior to any other development commencing to 
ensure that conditions of access and safety on Lower Waites Lane and 
Smugglers Way are maintained for all road users including during the 
construction period in accordance with Policies TR3 and CO6 of the Rother 
Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
4. No development shall take place including any ground works or works of 

demolition, until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the approved 
plan shall be implemented and adhered to in full throughout the entire 
construction period. The Plan shall provide details as appropriate but not 
restricted to the following matters: 
a. Anticipated number, frequency, and types of vehicles used during 

Page 8



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

construction. 
b. The method of access and egress and routing of vehicles during 

construction. 
c. The parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors. 
d. The loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste. 
e. The storage of plant and materials used in the construction of the 

development. 
f. The erection and maintenance of security hoarding. 
g. The provision and utilisation of wheel washing facilities and other works 

required to mitigate the impact of construction on the public highway 
(including the provision of temporary traffic Regulation Orders). 

h. Details of public engagement both prior to and during construction works. 
i. A named construction site manager with full contact details. 
Reason: A pre-commencement condition is required because the works need 
to be managed in all stages of construction to maintain safe traffic conditions 
on Lower Waites Lane and Smugglers Way, to maintain the safety of all road 
users and to maintain the amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies 
OSS4, TR3 and CO6 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
5. No development shall take place until an ecological design strategy (EDS) 

addressing enhancement of the site for biodiversity has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The EDS shall include the following: 
a. Purpose and conservation objectives of the proposed works. 
b. Review of site potential and constraints. 
c. Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to achieve stated objectives. 
d. Extent and location/area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps 

and plans. 
e. Type and source of materials to be used where appropriate, e.g. native 

species of local provenance. 
f. Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with 

the proposed phasing of development. 
g. Persons responsible for implementing the works. 
h. Details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance. 
i. Details for monitoring and remedial measures. 
j. Details for disposal of any wastes arising from the works. 

The EDS shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
and all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter. 
Reason: A pre-commencement condition is required to enable the Local 
Planning Authority to properly ensure the protection of protected species 
identified by EU & UK Wildlife Protection Legislation and the UK 
Biodiversity Action Plan in accordance with Policy EN5 (ii), (v) and (viii) of 
the Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
6. No development shall take place (including any demolition, ground works, 

site clearance) until a method statement for the rescue and translocation of 
reptiles has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The content of the method statement shall include the: 
a. Purpose and objectives of the proposed works. 
b. Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) necessary to achieve stated 

objectives (including, where relevant, type and source of materials to be 
used). 

c. Extent and location of proposed works shown on appropriate scale maps 
and plans. 

Page 9



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

d. Timetable for implementation, demonstrating that works are aligned with 
the proposed phasing of construction. 

e. Persons responsible for implementing the works. 
f. Initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant). 
g. Disposal of waste arising from works. 
The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
shall be retained in that manner thereafter. 
Reason: A pre-commencement condition is required to enable the Local 
Planning Authority to properly ensure the protection of protected species 
identified by EU & UK Wildlife Protection Legislation and the UK Biodiversity 
Action Plan in accordance with Policy EN5(ii), (v) and (viii) of the Local Plan 
Core Strategy. 

 
7. No development shall take place until the developer has secured the 

implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with 
the approved Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) prepared by Chris Butler 
Archaeological Services dated June 2014 Project No. CBAS0525. 
Reason: A pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the 
archaeological and historical interest of the site below ground is safeguarded 
and recorded to comply with the National Planning Policy Framework and in 
accordance with Policy EN2 (vi) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 

8. No development shall commence until a surface water drainage scheme has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Local Lead Flood Authority: The scheme will require: 
a. Carry forward into the detailed design the principles outlined in the 

Monson Drainage Strategy and Sustainable Drainage Management and 
Maintenance Plan (Issue B) dated 11 July 2017. The scheme should limit 
surface water runoff from the completed development to 2.7l/s for all 
rainfall events, including those with a 1 in 100 (plus climate change) 
annual probability of occurrence. Evidence of this (in the form of hydraulic 
calculations should take into account the connectivity of difference surface 
water drainage features. 

b. The proposed watercourse diversion should be designed such that the 
amended channel has an equal or greater capacity for conveying water 
than currently exists. Evidence of this (in the form of hydraulic 
calculations) should be submitted with the detailed drainage drawings. 

c. A Maintenance and Management Plan for the entire drainage system The 
Plan shall clearly state who will be responsible for managing all aspects of 
the surface water drainage system, including piped drains, and the 
appropriate authority should be satisfied with the submitted details. 
Evidence that these responsibility arrangements will remain in place 
throughout the lifetime of the development should be provided to the Local 
Planning Authority as part of the Maintenance and Management Plan. 

d. Thereafter none of the dwellings shall be occupied until the surface water 
drainage works to serve the development have been provided in 
accordance with the approved details and evidence of such provided to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: These details are integral to the whole development and are 
therefore required prior to commencement of works to prevent the increased 
risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, and ensure future 
maintenance of the surface water drainage system in accordance with 
Policies SRM2 (iii) and EN7 (iii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and 
paragraphs 100 and 103 of the National Planning Policy Framework with 

Page 10



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

accompanying ministerial statement of December 2014. 
  

9. Construction of the development shall not commence until details of the 
proposed means of foul water sewerage disposal have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: These details are integral to the whole development and are 
therefore required prior to commencement of works to prevent the increased 
risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, and ensure future 
maintenance of the surface water drainage system in accordance with 
Policies SRM2 (iii) and EN7 (iii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and 
paragraphs 100 and 103 of the National Planning Policy Framework with 
accompanying ministerial statement of December 2014. 

 
10. No development shall commence until details for the protection of existing 

trees and hedgerows on the site to be retained have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include 
indications of all existing trees and hedgerows on the land including details of 
those to be retained, together with a scheme for protection, which shall 
include locations for protective fencing, ground protection and no dig surface 
construction methods in accordance with the Arboricultural Report prepared 
by Sylvan Arb, Ref: SA/91/14 dated 2 June 2014. The approved scheme shall 
be put in place prior to the commencement of any development and shall be 
maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been 
removed from the site. Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area fenced 
in accordance with this condition and the ground levels within those areas 
shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without the written 
consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: These details are required prior to commencement of works to 
ensure the protection of retained trees and hedgerows during construction 
and the creation of a high quality public realm and landscape setting in 
accordance with Policy EN3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
11. No works which include the creation of trenches or culverts or the presence 

of pipes shall commence until measures to protected badgers from being 
trapped in open excavations and/or pipe and culverts are submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The measures may 
include: 
a. creation of escape ramps for badgers, which may be achieved by edge 

profiling of trenches/excavations or by using planks placed into them at 
the end of each working day; and 

b. open pipework greater than 150 mm outside diameter being blanked off at 
the end of each working day. 

Reason: To properly ensure the protection of rare and protected species 
identified by EU & UK Wildlife Protection Legislation and the UK Biodiversity 
Action Plan in accordance with Policy EN5(ii), (v) and (viii) of the Local Plan 
Core Strategy. 
 

12. No development above foundation level shall commence until a scheme of 
soft and hard landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include: 
a. Details of all hard landscaping; 
b. Design, layout and appearance of structural and amenity green space, 

including verges. 
c. Planting plans, including for landscape and ecological mitigation. 

Page 11



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

d. Written specifications (including cultivation and other operations 
associated with plant and grass establishment). 

e. Schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed 
numbers/densities where appropriate. 

f. Details for implementation. 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
details as approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and in 
accordance with an agreed implementation programme. 
Reason: To ensure the creation of a high quality public realm and landscape 
setting that enhances the character and appearance of the development and 
its locality in accordance with Policies OSS4 and EN3 of the Rother Local 
Plan Core Strategy. 

 
13. No development above ground level shall take place until there has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a plan 
indicating the positions, design, height, materials and type of boundary 
treatment to be erected. The boundary treatment shall be completed before 
the buildings are occupied. Development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure a high quality development taking account of the semi-
rural characteristics of the locality in accordance with Policies OSS4 (iii) and 
EN3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
14. No development above ground level shall take place until samples of the 

materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To preserve the visual amenities of the area in accordance with 
Policies OSS4 (iii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
15. No development above ground level shall take place before any external 

lighting scheme proposed is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The lighting scheme shall comply with the  Institution of 
Lighting Professionals Guidance Note for the reduction of obtrusive light 
2011(or later versions) and be designed so that it is the minimum needed for 
security and operational processes and be installed to minimise potential 
pollution caused by glare and spillage. The lighting scheme shall thereafter be 
implemented and maintained only as approved. Reason: To prevent light 
pollution in the interests of the amenities of adjoining residents and to protect 
the dark sky environment that is characteristic of Fairlight village in 
accordance with Policy OSS4 (ii) and (iii) of the Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
16. No part of the development shall be occupied until full details of refuse and 

recycling storage facilities have first been submitted to and approved in 
writing and those facilities have been provided in accordance with the 
approved details. The areas shall thereafter be retained for that use and shall 
not be used for any other purpose. 
Reason: To ensure that the satisfactory appearance of the development and 
the area is maintained in accordance with Policies TR3 and OSS4 (iii) of the 
Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 

17. No part of the development shall be occupied until the car parking spaces 
have been constructed and provided in accordance with the approved plan 

Page 12



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

(Drawing No. 622/003 P5 dated 27/11/2017). The areas shall thereafter 
be retained for that use and shall not be used other than for the parking of 
motor vehicles. 
Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate on-site parking that does not 
prejudice the free flow of traffic or conditions of general safety along the 
highway in accordance with Policies CO6, TR4 and TR3 of the Rother Local 
Plan Core Strategy. 

 
18. No part of the development shall be occupied until the vehicle turning space 

has been constructed within the site in accordance with the approved 
Drawing No. 622/003 P5 dated 27/11/2017. The space shall thereafter be 
retained at all times for this use only and shall not be obstructed. 
Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate turning facilities that do not 
prejudice the free flow of traffic or conditions of general safety along the 
highway in accordance with Policies CO6 and TR3 of the Rother Local Plan 
Core Strategy. 

 
19. No part of the development shall be occupied until the road, footways and 

parking areas serving the development have been constructed, drained and 
lit in accordance with plans and details that have first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate pedestrian and vehicular 
access and on-site parking so as not to prejudice the free flow of traffic or 
conditions of general safety along the highway in accordance with Policies 
CO6, TR4 and TR3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 

20. No part of the development shall be occupied until covered and secure cycle 
parking spaces have been provided in accordance with plans and details 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the 
areas shall thereafter be retained for that use and shall not be used other 
than for the parking of cycles. 
Reason: in order that the development site is accessible by non-car modes 
and to meet the objectives of sustainable development in accordance with 
Policy TR3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
21. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 

archaeological site investigation and post investigation assessment has been 
completed in accordance with the programme set out in the approved WSI 
and that provision for analysis, publication and dissemination of results and 
archive deposition has been secured, unless an alternative timescale for 
submission of the report is first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason: A pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the 
archaeological and historical interest of the site below ground is safeguarded 
and recorded to comply with the National Planning Policy Framework and in 
accordance with Policy EN2 (vi) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
22. Prior to the occupation of the development, a landscape management plan, 

including management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for the 
communal hard and soft landscape areas including any street furniture and 
minor artefacts therein, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. The landscape management plan shall be carried out as 
approved. 
Reason: To ensure a high quality public realm taking account of the 

Page 13



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

characteristics of the locality and enhancing the landscape character and 
quality of the High Weald AONB in accordance with Policies OSS4 (iii) and 
EN3 (ii) (e) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
23. Unless alternative times are specifically agreed in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority, construction activities associated with the development 
hereby permitted shall not be carried out other than between the hours of 
08:00 and 18:00 hours on Mondays to Fridays inclusive and 08:00 and 13.00 
on Saturdays and not at any time on Sundays, Bank and Public Holidays. 
Reason: So as not to unreasonably harm the amenities of adjoining 
properties in accordance with Policies OSS4 (ii) and CO6 of the Rother Local 
Plan Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
24. If within a period of five years from the date of occupation any tree planted or 

any tree planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted, destroyed or 
dies, [or becomes, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously 
damaged or defective] another tree of the same species and size as that 
originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 
Reason: To enhance the appearance of the development and the character 
and appearance of the locality in accordance with Policies OSS4 and EN3 of 
the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
25. In this condition "retained tree" means an existing tree which is to be retained 

in accordance with the approved plans and particulars; and paragraphs (a) 
and (b) below shall have effect until the expiration of five years from the date 
of the occupation of the building for its permitted use. 
a. No retained tree shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any 

retained tree be topped or lopped other than in accordance with the 
approved plans and particulars, without the written approval of the Local 
Planning Authority. Any topping or lopping approved shall be carried out in 
accordance with British Standard [3998 (Tree Work)]. 

b. If any retained tree is removed, uprooted, destroyed or dies, another tree 
shall be planted at the same place and that tree shall be of such size and 
species, and shall be planted at such time, as may be specified in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 

c. The erection of fencing for the protection of any retained tree shall be 
undertaken in accordance with the approved plans and particulars before 
any equipment, machinery or materials are brought on to the site for the 
purposes of the development, and shall be maintained until all equipment, 
machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site. 
Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area fenced in accordance with 
this condition and the ground levels within those areas shall not be 
altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without the written consent of 
the Local Planning Authority. 

d. No fire shall be lit within 10m from the outside of the crown spread of any 
tree which is to be retained. 

e. No equipment, machinery or structure shall be attached to or supported by 
a retained tree. 

f. No mixing of cement or use of other contaminating materials or 
substances shall take place within, or close enough to, a root protection 
area that seepage or displacement could cause them to enter a root 
protection area. 

g. No alterations or variations to the approved works or tree protection 

Page 14



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

schemes shall be made without prior written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Reason: To ensure that trees are not damaged or otherwise adversely 
affected by building operations and soil compaction to enhance the 
appearance of the development in accordance with Policies OSS4 (iii) and 
EN3 (ii) (e) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
26. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, (or any order revoking or re- 
enacting this Order with or without modification), the garages hereby 
approved shall retained for such use and shall not be altered internally or 
externally for use as habitable accommodation. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory level of off-road parking facilities so as not 
to prejudice the free flow of traffic and conditions of general safety along the 
highway and to accord with Policy TR4 of the Rother Local Plan Core 
Strategy. 

 
27. Notwithstanding the provisions of Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, (or any order revoking or re- 
enacting this Order with or without modification), no fences, gates or walls, 
buildings or structures of any kind, shall be erected within the curtilage of any 
dwelling house forward of any wall of that dwelling house which fronts onto a 
road. 
Reason: To safeguard the open and green character and appearance of the 
development and area in accordance with Policy OSS4 (iii) of the Rother 
Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
28.  The dwelling(s) hereby approved shall meet the requirement of no more than 

110 litres/person/day water efficiency set out in Part G of Schedule 1 of the 
Building Regulations 2010 (as amended) for water usage. The dwelling(s) 
hereby permitted shall not be occupied until evidence has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that 
the dwelling(s) has been constructed to achieve water consumption of no 
more than 110 litres per person per day.  
Reason: To ensure that the dwelling(s) is built to acceptable water efficiency 
standards in line with sustainability objectives and in accordance with Policy 
SRM2 (v) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and Policy DRM1 of the 
Rother Development and Site Allocations Local Plan. 

 
29.  The dwelling(s) hereby permitted shall not be occupied until it they have been 

constructed in accordance with Part M4(2) (accessible and adaptable 
dwellings) of Schedule 1 of the Building Regulations 2010 (as amended) for 
access to and use of buildings. 
Reason: To ensure that an acceptable standard of access is provided to the 
dwelling(s) in accordance with Policy OSS4 (i) of the Rother Local Plan Core 
Strategy and Policy DHG4 of the Rother Development and Site Allocations 
Local Plan. 

 

NOTES: 
 
1. This permission is the subject of an obligation under Section 106 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

2. The Applicant is reminded of the need to enter into Section 278 agreement 

Page 15



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

with the Highway Authority to tie the road improvement works into the public 
highway. 

 

3. The Highway Authority would wish to see the roads within the site laid out 
and constructed to standards at, or at least close to, adoption standards. 

 
4. A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is 

required in order to service this development. Please contact Southern 
Water, Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 
2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk 

 

5. Part of the site is affected by a public foul sewer. It might be possible to 
divert this so long as it would not result in an unacceptable loss of hydraulic 
capacity and the work is carried out at the developer’s expense to the 
satisfaction of Southern Water under the relevant statutory provisions. 
Please see Southern Water’s correspondence of 13 April 2017 for the 
relevant criteria to be applied to any diversion of apparatus. 

 

6. Due to changes in legislation that came into force on 1 October 2011 it is 
possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the 
application site. Should any such sewer be found during construction 
works an investigation of the sewer will be required to ascertain its 
condition,the number of properties served and potential means of access 
before any further works take place on site. 

 
7. The Applicant is reminded that under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

(Section 1) it is an offence to take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild 
bird while that nest is in use or being built. Planning permission for a 
development does not provide a defence against prosecution under this Act. 
Trees and scrub are likely to contain nesting birds between 1 March and 31 
July. Trees and scrub are present on the application site and should be 
assumed to contain nesting birds between the above dates unless a survey 
has shown it is absolutely certain that nesting birds are not present. 

 
8. The Applicant is reminded that it is an offence to damage or destroy species 

protected under separate legislation. Planning permission for a development 
does not provide a defence against prosecution under European and UK 
wildlife protection legislation. The presence of protected species cannot be 
discounted on this site given its character and location and a precautionary 
approach must be taken to all site clearance and construction works. Should 
any protected species is encountered during these works all work on site 
should cease and advice sought on how to proceed from a suitably qualified 
and experienced ecologist. Separate licences and consents may be required 
to undertake work on the site where protected species are found. 

 
9. This development will be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

and all interested parties are referred to http://www.rother.gov.uk/CIL for 
further information and the charging schedule. 

 
10. The Applicant is advised that it is their responsibility to notify their Building 

Control Body (Local Authority or Approved Inspector) that conditions 
triggering the optional technical standards for Water Efficiency and 
Accessibility and Wheelchair Housing Standards are attached to this planning 
permission and that development should be built accordingly. Enforcement 

Page 16

http://www.southernwater.co.uk/
http://www.rother.gov.uk/CIL


pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

action may be taken without further notice if the relevant standards are not 
achieved. 

 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK:  In accordance with the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 38) and with 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2015, the Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in 
determining this application by assessing the proposal against all material 
considerations, including planning policies and any representations that have been 
received and subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance 
with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
  

Page 17



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

PREVIOUS REPORT TO PLANNING COMMITTEE – 15 MARCH 2018 

 

APPLICATIONS ATTRACTING A PETITION Agenda Item: 6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

Planning Committee 15 March 2018 
 
 

RR/2017/457/P FAIRLIGHT Former Market Garden, Lower Waites 
Lane 

 
Construction of 16 houses together with associated 
parking, access and wildlife area 

 
 

Applicant: Gemselect Ltd 
Agent: None 
Case Officer: Ms J. Edwards (Email: jo.edwards@rother.gov.uk) 
Parish: FAIRLIGHT 
Ward Members: Councillor R.K. Bird and Councillor C.J. Saint 

 
Reason for Committee consideration: Member referral: Cllrs R.K. Bird and C.J. 
Saint 

 
Statutory 13 week date: 30 May 2017 Extension of time agreed to: 30 March 2018 

 
 

This application is included in the Committee site inspection list. 
 
 

1.0 POLICIES 
 

1.1 The following ‘saved’ policies of the adopted Rother District Local Plan 2006 
are relevant to the proposal: 

 
DS3 Development Boundaries 
VL3 Land adjacent to Fairlight Gardens, Fairlight Cove – allocates the site for 
at least 15 dwellings with 40% affordable. 

 
1.2 The following policies of the Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 are relevant to the 

proposal: 
 

PC1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development OSS1 
 Overall spatial development strategy 
OSS3 Location of Development 
OSS4 General Development Considerations 
RA1 Villages (at least 44 new homes in Fairlight between 2011 and 2028 

including existing allocations, commitments and new sites) 
SRM2  Water Supply and waste water management 
CO6 Community Safety 
LHN1 Achieving mixed and balanced communities 
LHN2 Affordable housing 
EN1 Landscape stewardship 
EN2 Stewardship of the historic built environment 
EN3 Design quality 
EN5 Biodiversity and green space 
EN6 Flood risk management 

TR3 Access and new development TR4 Car parking 
 

Page 19

mailto:jo.edwards@rother.gov.uk


pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

1.3 A Neighbourhood Plan was to have been produced by Fairlight Parish 
Council however that know looks unlikely to proceed and no weight can   be 
given to it. 

 
1.4 The National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Policy Guidance are 

also material considerations. In particular paragraphs: 

 Paragraphs 7 – 14 – presumption in favour of sustainable development 

 Paragraph 17 – core planning principles for sustainable development 

 Paragraph 47 – delivering a wide choice of high quality homes via 
‘deliverable and developable’ sites 

 Paragraph 49 – five-year supply of deliverable housing sites 

 Chapter 7 – Requiring good design 

 Paragraphs 99 – 108 Climate change, flood risk and coastal change. 

 Paragraphs 203 – 206 Planning conditions and obligations 
 
 

2.0 SITE 
 

2.1 The application site comprises vacant land previously used as a market 
garden (horticulture) located fairly centrally within the village of Fairlight and 
within the 2006 development boundary of Fairlight Cove. The site is bounded 
by Lower Waites Lane to the south west and south east; existing single 
detached dwelling houses; Moelfre and no. 25 Lower Waites Lane to the 
north east; and by flats at Fairlight Gardens to the north-west. 

 
2.2 The applicant’s ownership extends to approximately 0.6 hectares that in the 

north-west comprises existing garages and a forecourt area that are in use. 
That part of the applicant’s land is contained within the red line boundary but 
excluded from the development proposal. The part of the site to be  
developed comprises approximately 0.54 hectares and until very recently 
(August 2017) was heavily overgrown primarily with bramble scrub 
comprising predominantly hawthorn, ivy and blackberry. 

 
2.3 On the margins of the site there are several mature trees including two oaks 

on the south west and north east boundaries respectively that are protected 
by TPO. There is a dense band of young mixed species and several other 
trees on the south east boundary fronting onto Lower Waites Lane that 
currently serve to screen the site from residential properties on the south 
side of this private road. Along the length of this boundary there is also an 
existing stream. The site slopes downwards from the north-west corner 
towards the south east by approximately 10m. 

 

 
 

3.0 HISTORY 
 

3.1 RR/2014/1868/P Construction of 11 x houses and 9 x flats together with 
associate parking and access road and ecological areas 
– WITHDRAWN 

 

 
 
 

Page 20



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

4.0 PROPOSAL 
 

4.1 The proposal is for a residential development of 16 dwellings comprising a 
mix of two and three bedroom houses made up as follows: 

 

Dwelling Type Bedrooms / persons No. 

Terraced cottage 2 bed / 4 person 6 

Semi-detached house 3 bed / 5 persons 2 

Semi-detached house 3 bed / 6 persons 4 

Detached house 3 bed / 5 persons 1 

Detached house 3 bed / 6 persons 3 

Total 16 

 

4.2 Revised design and layout drawings were received on 9th August and these 
were re-consulted on together with amended surface and foul water drainage 
schemes received on 14th July for a further 14 day period in August 2017. 
Further amendments were made in November 2018 including the 
incorporation of a further public footpath in the south west corner of the site 
and an increase in the size of the ‘wildlife area’. 

 
4.3 The proposed houses would all be two storey and would be completed 

externally in Sussex red multi brick with clay roof tiles and hanging tiles at 
first floor, UPVC white casement windows and light oak UPVC front and 
garage doors. The dwellings are shown arranged around a short cul-de-sac 
taking access from the south west corner of the site. The road would slope 
slightly downwards from a high point near the existing, fenced off access to 
the site and terminate in a courtyard providing a turning area for larger 
service vehicles. Off street parking within the site would be made for 36 
vehicles in communal parking courts, private driveways and garages. 
Surface materials to the road and open parking areas would comprise 
permeable block paving and granite setts and bound gravel providing a 
‘shared surface for pedestrians and vehicles. A new pedestrian footway 
linking Fairlight Gardens with the southern length of would be provided on 
the south west edge of the site. 

 
4.4 The orientation and geometry of the site entrance is designed so as to 

encourage future residents to access the site to and from Smugglers Way to 
the south and to discourage the use of Lower Waites Lane in either direction 
for vehicular movements associated with the site. 

 
4.5 The scheme includes a central wildlife area on the north-west boundary with 

linear features on both the south east and north east edges. Existing trees 
are generally to be retained and supplemented. 

 

4.6 The development would include underground surface water holding tanks 
within the courtyard area and would also involve the realignment of the 
stream on the south east boundary. 

 
4.7 Supporting documents to the application include a Design and Access 

Statement (amended August 2017), Statement of Significance and 

Page 21



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation (June 2014), Drainage 
Strategy and Sustainable Drainage Management and Maintenance Plan 
(amended July 2017), Traffic Report, Ecological Report (October 2016) with 
supplementary information and correspondence, Arboricultural Report (dated 
June 2014) and Viability Appraisal. 

 
 

5.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

5.1 Parish Council 
 

5.1.1 The Parish Council’s comments on the original submission are available to 
view in full on line. In summary they address the following: 

 Would have preferred to see site used as public open space but 
recognise housing allocation; 

 Consider that the density is too high and character of development not 
in keeping with village; 

 Onsite parking provision considered inadequate – transport report 
considered to under estimate amount 

 Vehicular access to site is restricted; 

 The proposal for sewage disposal is considered unacceptable: the 
system should be upgraded before any further planning consents are 
given; 

 If permission is granted there should be conditions imposed relating to 
lighting, external materials, boundary treatments, pollution control to 
stream, destabilisation of bank through any tree removal and long term 
maintenance; wildlife protection and relocation; construction traffic 
management and considerate contractor scheme. 

 

5.1.2 In response to the re-consultation on amended details in August, the PC 
commented that it would wish to see an independent assessment of the 
potential consequences of the stream realignment undertaken to ensure that 
it would not lead to the bank collapsing further downstream. 

 
5.2 Highway Authority 

 

5.2.1 The Highway Authority has some concerns about access to the site from 
private roads but its formal comments are necessarily limited to the impact of 
the development on the public highway that commences approximately 50m 
to the south of the site on Smugglers Way. Comments are made under the 
headings: Trip generation and highway impact; internal layout, parking, 
accessibility and construction traffic management plan and are available to 
view on line. In summary it is considered that the development would 
generate approximately 9 two way vehicle journeys in AM and PM peak 
hours that would not adversely impact on the public road network; the 36 
parking spaces are provided against an assessed need of 32. Although 6 of 
these are provided in garages and the Highway authority would prefer these 
to be open as they meet minimum internal space standards there is no 
objection. Cycle parking needs to be provided also in accordance with ESCC 
standards. The site is located centrally within the village and although local 
facilities are limited there is a relatively frequent weekday and Saturday 
service to Rye and Hastings. Notwithstanding that destinations are limited 
and any development is likely to remain largely dependent on private 
vehicles particularly for work trips. However, with some local facilities 

Page 22



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

available within walking distance and public transport The highway authority 
is keen to ensure that this development does not have an adverse effect on  
the existing highway infrastructure and therefore request that a Construction 
Traffic Management Plan is submitted to and agreed with ESCC prior to the 
commencement of works to be secured by a relevant planning condition. 
This should take into account the character of the roads serving the site and 
include a construction traffic routing agreement, hours of working, wheel 
washing, and secured compounds for materials storage, machinery and 
contractor parking. Conditions are suggested if planning permission is 
granted. 

 
5.3 Southern Water 

 

5.3.1 Southern Water has advised a number of times concerning the development 
of this site, on occasions seemingly giving seemingly conflicting advice. 
However in its most recent communication dated 31st May 2017 it confirmed, 
“in light of further modelling work, and a review of the likely risks of foul 
sewerage flooding and predicted possible flooding locations, Southern Water 
are now happy to confirm there is sufficient capacity to serve the above 
development.” Other comments contained in its letter dated 13th April 
including suggested conditions remain unchanged. All of the correspondence 
received is available to view on line. 

 
5.4 ESCC Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) 

 
5.4.1 In its initial response dated 22 March the LLFA requested further information. 

Having received that on 14 July 2017 it has now commented that “there is no 
objection in principle subject to the imposition of conditions, whilst the 
application documentation has not met all of the County Council’s 
requirements, it is possible that the risk is capable of being mitigated to 
acceptable levels by the application of planning conditions which are outlined 
in this response”. Appropriate conditions are proposed should permission be 
granted. 

 
5.5 Environment Agency 

 

5.5.1 The development is assessed as being of low environmental risk and 
therefore the EA has no comment to make noting that, “the development is 
near to a watercourse that is not a main river designated by the EA. The 
applicant should therefore contact the Internal Drainage Board. The applicant 
may be required to apply for other consents directly from the EA. 

 
5.6 County Archaeologist 

 

5.6.1 The County Archaeologist would have preferred that an archaeological 
evaluation of the site in accordance with a written scheme of investigation 
prepared in 2014 for the applicant had been undertaken in advance of the 
application but accepts that ecological constraints on the site make that 
impossible. In the event that planning permission is granted it is requested 
that conditions are attached requiring a full archaeological evaluation to be 
undertaken before any development commences. It is noted that this could 
result in significant archaeological costs or the scheme design having to be 
amended if any significant remains requiring preservation in situ are found. 
Conditions are proposed 

Page 23



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

5.7 County Ecologist 
 

5.7.1 The County Ecologist has commented on the scheme design and the 
detailed wildlife mitigation measures proposed. If planning permission is 
granted suitable conditions are suggested. 

 
5.9 Sussex Police 

 

5.9.1 Generally supportive of layout being a cul de sac with no through route, the 
layout will encourage ownership and a sense of community; natural 
surveillance will deter trespass. 

 
5.10 Planning Notice 

 

5.10.1 A petition signed by 17 people has been received from local residents and a 
spokesperson for them has been invited to address the Committee. The 
matters of objection cited are, “drainage both foul and surface water” 

 
5.10.2 Fifty four letters of objections to the application, including from Campaign for 

Rural England Sussex Branch as originally submitted were received with 
some respondents submitting several separate letters or emails. . A further 
17 letters of objection were received in response to the re-consultation on 
amended drawings and drainage proposals in August. 

 
5.10.3 Five general comments about the boundary line and potential impact on the 

TPO tree on the north east boundary of the site and slow progress of the 
application were received. 

 
5.10.4 One letter of support was received that considered that the site serves no 

useful purpose and the current proposal is a reasonable compromise. 
Previous criticisms of the development have been listened to and largely 
addressed. 

 
5.10.5 All of the comments received are available to view in full on-line but the 

matters in objection raised are summarised as: 
 

Density, design and layout 

 Scheme represents overdevelopment of the site and is uncharacteristic 
of the surrounding area; 

 Proposed houses are overcrowded and poor quality; 

 Government advice concerning densities on which minimum 15 
dwellings required by policy has been abolished, density should be 
based on local circumstances taking account of facilities i.e. wildlife; 
drainage; parking etc. also required to be met on the site; 

 Site is smaller (excluding garages) than considered when Local Plan 
2006 made therefore number of dwellings too great; 

 The (uniform and tightly packed) design is more suitable to an urban 
area than this village; 

 To the south and east, to which the development mainly relates, 
development is characterised by low density detached dwellings, 
mainly low - rise; 

 The development would introduce a scale of noise and activity into this 
very quiet part of the village that would completely alter its character; 

 Scheme looks like ‘Toy Town’ 

Page 24



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

 Some of the houses don’t have front gardens; 

 If the site has to be developed it should be for 4 to 5 bungalows; 

 The boundary line in the amended drawings is moved but not enough 
to allow a house to be built there. 

 

Traffic, highways and access 

 Development will place an intolerable strain on Lower Waites Lane; 

 All routes to the site offer sites of potential blockage to larger vehicles 
that might include fire engines and ambulances; 

 No permission should be granted until a minimum of one full width 
carriageway in each direction is provided; 

 The road junctions of the preferred vehicular route Shepherd’s Way, 
Bramble Way and Smugglers Way are too tight to allow more traffic 
and too narrow to cope with the proposed development not permitting 
two cars to pass; 

 Ramblers walk in the middle of the road on Smuggler’s Way; 

 The amount of parking on the site is inadequate; 

 Cars from the development would be encouraged to park on 
surrounding roads increasing congestion; 

 Construction traffic would harm the road surfaces and verges; 

 Future residents will use the shortest and quickest drive route not the 
one proposed; 

 The widening at Limenhurst has not been completed – the traffic report 
is wrong; 

 Communal parking courts do not enable residents to be able to charge 
their electric vehicles in the near future; 

 Parking on the road in the site would cause hazard to pedestrians; 

 The proposal for a communal bike store is a joke; 

 Storage is required for disabled buggies and other electric vehicle 
charging points; 

 
Drainage and land stability 

 Will create an intolerable burden on land stability in the area 

 Scheme doesn’t make provision for the long term maintenance of flood 
storage mechanism; 

 There is insufficient foul water disposal infrastructure capacity for the 
development 

 The flow of surface water along the stream may overwhelm the culverts 
at Broadway; 

 Parts of the stream are blocked this development will make the 
situation worse; 

 Poor maintenance of the stream will add to the possibility of these 
becoming blocked; 

 The drains already overflow along Lower Waites Lane; 

 Will access to the application site side of the boundary fence for the 
maintenance of our drains be retained 

 Soakaways are unacceptable and there is inadequate capacity in the 
local network; 

 There are existing drains on the site; 

 Proposals don’t take into account other development already permitted 
that will discharge into the system; 

 The proposal to straighten the stream will only speed up flows and 

Page 25



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

bring the stream closer to the road leading to more erosion of both the 
road and the banks;. 

 The attenuation tanks will need to be maintained otherwise they will silt 
up; 

 The development will add to the residents misery with raw sewage 
problems; 

 The whole drainage system should be replaced before anymore 
development is allowed; 

 The reliability of Southern Waters comments and the proposals made in 
the updated Monson drainage report accompanying amended 
proposals in July 2017 have been questioned. 

 The development should contribute towards off site drainage 
improvements as required by policy VL3. 

 
Ecology 

 No provision made for long term maintenance of wildlife protection area; 

 No care has been taken of the wildlife, the small areas shown on the 
drawing is totally inadequate; 

 Some of the trees are subject to TPO, could others be protected in the 
same way; 

 The site is valuable to wildlife 

 There is wildlife on the site that isn’t acknowledged by the ecology 
report; 

 Some of the houses are too close to the trees and the canopy of the 
protected tree on the north east boundary extends further than shown 
on the drawings; 

 

Miscellaneous 

 Japanese Knotweed is known to have been present on the site. 
Although some treatment was carried out in 2012 and subsequent 
years the plant has re-established itself and may have spread to other 
parts of the site; 

 The knotweed needs to be dealt with by a professional company and a 
certificate issued that the weed will not regrow before any digging 
commences; 

 Windows from the new houses should not be allowed to overlook 
existing houses or their private amenity space; proposed buffer planting 
of 1.2m height is insufficient; 

 No mention is made in the application of affordable housing; 

 Archaeology on the site is not addressed; 

 The village doesn’t have street lighting so this is not acceptable; 

 Apart from glasshouses and temporary outbuildings, the site has never 
been built on; 

 There are electricity lines crossing under the site affecting the gardens 
of dwellings 1, 3, 5, 7, 9, 11, 13, 15 and 16; 

 The communal bin store proposed near to the northern boundary will 
create unacceptable odours; 

 Loss of last remaining green space in village centre; 

 The amendments made do not impact on the previously expressed 
concerns of many residents regarding the complete unsuitability of this 
site for development in a village environment; 

 There is no more capacity for development in the village 
 

 

Page 26



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

6.0 APPRAISAL 
 
6.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and 

section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 require that 
applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
6.2 The site lies within the village development boundary for Fairlight Cove as 

defined by the Rother District Local Plan 2006 (RDLP) where proposals for 
development are supported in principle subject to all other material 
considerations. It is also specifically allocated for housing development by 
saved Policy VL3 of the RDLP for at least 15 dwellings. 

 
6.3 The principal issues with this application are considered to be: the extent to 

which the proposal complies with Policy VL3; its design and character 
within the context of the village; impact on adjoining properties and the 
amenity of future residents; surface and foul water drainage; traffic, access 
and parking; impact on wildlife and trees and affordable housing and 
other section 106 planning requirements. 

 

6.4 Policy Position 
 

6.4.1 The Government requires that all local planning authorities identify annually 
a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a five year supply of 
housing against their housing requirements with an additional appropriate 
buffer to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. Policy OSS1 
of the Core Strategy (CS) that sets out the overall spatial development 
strategy includes a requirement to plan for at least 5,700 additional dwellings 
(net) in the district over the Plan period. Figure 8 sets out approximate 
development levels for different parts of the district, including a total of 1670 
dwellings within villages. Policy RA1 (v) sets a target of at least 44 new 
dwellings (net) in Fairlight over the CS period 2011-2028. Taking into 
account seven net completions locally since April 2011 the remaining 
requirement is for 37 dwellings. 

 
6.4.2 Saved Policy VL3 of the RDLP 2006 allocates the site for housing 

development. It states: 
 

“Land adjacent to Fairlight Gardens, Fairlight Cove, as shown on 
theProposals Map, is allocated for housing purposes. Proposals will be 
permitted where:- 

 
(i) at least 15 dwellings are provided, of which 40% are affordable; 

 
(ii) developer contributions are made for widening the junction of Lower 

Waites Lane with Smugglers Way and for the upgrading of Smugglers 
Way, and towards off-site drainage improvements to accommodate the 
development; 

 
(iii) no development will be occupied until the 275m rock armour revetment 

at the toe of the cliffs adjacent to Rockmead Road has been 
constructed, together with the associated re-profiling and draining of 
the existing landslip slope and the installation of a line of pumped wells 
at the cliff top; 

Page 27



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

(iv) developer contributions are made to the construction of the village hall” 

 
6.4.3 The suitability of the application site for future development was reassessed 

in the Council’s 2013 SHLAA review. At the time the site was assessed as 
being the only ‘green’ site in the village being suitable and developable, 
subject to more detailed investigations. 

 

Five-year housing land supply 

6.4.4 Paragraph 49 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires that 
housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption 
in favour of sustainable development. Paragraph 47 requires local authorities 
to maintain a five year supply of deliverable housing sites including a buffer. 

 
6.4.5 In respect of the five-year supply issue at October 2017, the latest date for 

which figures are available, the Council could only demonstrate a 3.2 year 
supply of available housing sites including a 20% buffer. As a consequence, 
planning applications fall to be considered in the context of paragraph 14 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. However that does not mean that 
housing schemes which are unacceptable for other sound planning grounds 
must now be allowed; but it does add weight to the benefits that the 
contribution to boosting housing supply would bring when determining 
planning applications ‘on balance’ and that weight to be given here in the 
specific context of Fairlight would be ‘significant’ in light of the fact that that 
site is an extant allocation and that no other sites within the village suitable 
for development on the scale required have been identified. 

 
6.4.6 Paragraph 14 states: 

“For decision-taking this means: 

 approving development proposals that accord with the development 
plan without delay; and 

 where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out 

‑of‑date, granting permission unless: 

 any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole; or 

 specific policies in the Framework indicate development should be 
restricted.” 

 

6.5 Design and character within the context of the village 
 

6.5.1 The proposal is for a development of 16 two and three bedroom two storey 
houses arranged around a small cul-de-sac. The layout of the scheme has 
been developed by the applicant in discussion with the Council’s planning 
and design officers and is considered to provide a good arrangement of 
dwellings on the site that would create a sense of place within the new 
development, while meeting the policy requirement for a minimum of 15 
dwellings. 

 
6.5.2 Public concerns have been raised both regarding the density of the scheme 

and its two storey character, in an area where a large proportion of dwellings 
are bungalows or chalet bungalows, however it is noted that whilst 
bungalows might predominate, there is other two storey development in the 
area including at Fairlight Gardens immediately to the north west of the 

Page 28



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

application site. 
 
6.5.3 While the supporting text to Policy VL3 recognises that the site relates more 

to the dwellings on the south side of Lower Waites Lane than to Fairlight 
Gardens that is due more to the common green hedgerows that line both 
sides of Lower Waites Lane than to the relationship between existing and 
proposed dwellings. Maintaining the green semi- rural character of Lower 
Waites Lane here will be the most important factor in ensuring that the 
development is satisfactorily assimilated within the village requiring careful 
attention to preserving and enhancing the existing soft edge of the site and 
the use of appropriate boundary treatments and lighting. 

 
6.6 Impact on adjoining properties 
 

6.6.1 The orientation of the proposed dwellings onto a central cul-de-sac means 
that their rear gardens would back onto adjoining roads / pathways to the 
north west and south east boundaries with the front elevations of the nearest 
existing dwellings set back behind. This arrangement provides a separation 
distance between front and rear elevations on the north-west side of the site 
of 19- 20m although due to the falling nature of the ground there is no direct 
relationship between the existing and proposed dwellings. 

 
6.6.2 On the south east side separation distances are between 20 and 44m with 

intervening soft boundary hedges limiting the opportunity for any direct inter- 
visibility. Providing that these boundaries are maintained, and where 
necessary enhanced, the existing amenity of these neighbouring properties 
will not be harmed. 

 
6.6.3 To the north east, the relationship between existing and proposed dwellings 

is different and closer with the rear / side elevations and gardens of the 
proposed dwellings backing onto the rear garden of Moelfre beyond a line of 
existing mature trees and a small external area at 25 Lower Waites Lane that 
has its principal private garden area to the front of the house. On this part of 
the site the distance of separation between facing elevations is between 15 
and 24 m. However in respect of the relationship between proposed plot no. 
16 and Moelfre the careful positioning of windows and with the principal first 
floor views being directed to the northwest a satisfactory relationship 
between existing and proposed dwellings and their private amenity areas 
would be maintained. With respect to the relationship with 25 Lower Waites 
Lane and proposed plot 12 only the obscure glazed bathroom window would 
look over the rooflight windows that are installed on the south west single 
storey roof slope of the existing dwelling with views from a rear bedroom 
being directed down Lower Waites Lane. The proposed dwelling on plot 14 
straddles the boundary of Moelfre and no. 25, with rear bedroom views 
directed between the existing houses or onto the blank gable end of the two 
storey element of no. 25. With existing boundary tree and hedgerow planting 
- also proposed to be enhanced to maintain its value as a wildlife corridor - 
the proposed arrangement adequately maintains the amenity of existing 
properties. 

 
6.7 Amenity of future residents 
 

6.7.1 All of the dwellings substantially exceed the minimum internal space 
standards set out in the Nationally Described Space Standards. In terms 

Page 29



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

of external private space - although, given the relatively narrow and sloping 
character of the site, the garden spaces are irregularly arranged and 
generally terraced - in overall terms they provide a satisfactory level of 
amenity with opportunities to provide for a good degree of privacy within a 
naturally landscaped framework. 

 
6.8 Surface and foul water drainage 
 

6.8.1 With regard to surface water drainage, following amendments to the 
proposed SUDS scheme agreed with County Council as the Local Lead 
Flood Authority (LLFA) in July 2017 and involving the re-alignment and re- 
profiling of part of the water course to enable greater hydraulic performance, 
the LLFA has advised that the development is able to satisfactorily deal with 
surface water run-off arising. The scheme agreed in principle would, by way 
of a 75mm outfall orifice to the stream, restrict flows from the completed 
development to the same as from the existing greenfield site or less in 
extreme rainfall events - with the excess volumes generated at such extreme 
times being stored beneath the ground in tanks to be released gradually into 
the watercourse. 

 
6.8.2 Responding to the raising of further local concerns about the possible 

consequences of the agreed scheme on the stability of the watercourse 
further along Lower Waites Lane, the LLFA has responded as follows, 

 

“In terms of the realignment of the watercourse, we do recognise that this 
needs to be carried out sensitively to ensure flood and erosion risk is not 
increased downstream. We have agreed to the principle of this realignment 
but have yet to agree the detail. We would expect the applicant to provide 
further details as part of the planning conditions imposed on the 
development. As you are aware, East Sussex County Council is also 
responsible for regulating works on this watercourse and the applicant will 
have to apply to us (separate to the planning permission) for consent to 
undertake the realignment. As part of the further details, we will ensure that 
the proposed realignment mimics the existing watercourse as closely as 
possible. The volume and velocity of flows and their effect on conditions 
downstream will be the main considerations when we determine an 
application for consent. The applicant will also be expected to provide a 
Maintenance Plan setting out how they propose to maintain the surface 
water drainage network and existing watercourse over the lifetime of the 
development. We will assess this and then they will be bound by this as a 
condition to the planning permission, should it be given by Rother District 
Council.” 

 

6.8.3 Regarding foul drainage, Southern Water‘s most recent correspondence of 
31 May 2017 considers, in light of further information provided by the 
applicant, that it is able to provide foul sewage disposal to service the 
development. In this regard it is the case that the local foul sewage 
infrastructure has had a tendency to fail during storm water events when 
surface run-off inundates the sewers that - although officially intended to be 
for foul drainage only - are acknowledged to serve a combined role taking 
both foul and surface water. The ability to store surface water in underground 
tanks on the site during these events for subsequent, regulated, discharge 
should have a net beneficial effect on the local sewerage network. The 
Council is dependent on the professional advice of the LLFA and Southern 

Page 30



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

Water regarding the ability of local existing and proposed drainage 
infrastructure to meet the requirements of new development. It is 
recommended therefore their technical advice is accepted. 

 
6.9 Traffic, access and parking 
 

6.9.1 Vehicular access to the site would be from the existing, but blocked-off, 
entrance to the south west corner, close to the junction of the north-west arm 
of Lower Waites Lane and Smuggler’s Way. Policy VL3 recognises that 
access to the site is restricted and that the south east arm of Lower Waites 
Lane is not an appropriate route for associated vehicular traffic and therefore 
requires access to be taken from the south via Smugglers Way. The 
geometry of the proposed junction layout favours that route and once the 
current informal arrangements outside of Limenhurst are formalised it is 
considered that this will provide the most desirable route for future residents 
accessing the site by car. 

 
6.9.2 Pedestrian access would also be taken from this point with new pedestrian 

footways provided on the south west boundary of the site to Fairlight 
Gardens and to the south east arm of Lower Waites Lane. The latter means 
that pedestrian movement in the vicinity of the vehicular junction can be 
separated which will benefit public safety in this constrained area. 

 
6.9.3 Tracking drawings confirm that cars, emergency vehicles and the medium 

sized 15t refuse vehicles used on Lower Waites Lane, that would need to 
access the site are able to enter, turn and leave the site in a forward gear via 
the Smugglers Road junction arrangement. 

 
6.9.4 On the site, off street parking provision exceeds the ESCC standards, 

notwithstanding that some spaces are provided within garages. The highway 
authority has raised concerns that the parking arrangement is sub optimal 
and might result in parking on the internal road restricting access for other 
vehicles, particularly emergency or refuse vehicles. In response, the  
Applicant proposes that soft and hard landscape features should be engaged 
to prevent such opportunities that would be agreed by condition. It is also 
noted that the actual distances between dwellings and parking spaces is not 
great. 

 
6.9.5 With regards to accessibility, the site is located centrally within the village 

and is therefore well located to the village’s, albeit limited, facilities and 
services. There is a local bus stop in close proximity to the north-west on 
Waites Lane from which a fairly regular bus service operates throughout the 
week between Hastings and Rye. While acknowledging that - as with much 
of the rural area of the district - residents in Fairlight are predominantly car-
reliant, the site is considered to be accessible in policy terms. 

 
6.10 Impact on wildlife and trees 
 

6.10.1 The application was supported by an ecological report dated October 2016 
that has been supplemented by further information in response to comments 
made by the County Ecologist. Arising from this officers are satisfied that 
adequate mitigation on or off site for European and UK protected species 
likely to be present of the site can be made and the County Ecologist 
has recommended a number of appropriate conditions to be attached in the 

Page 31



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

event that planning permission is granted. 
 
6.10.2 With regard to trees, an arboricultural report prepared in support of the 

earlier application has been resubmitted with the current proposal and 
remains relevant. Ten mature trees have been surveyed including two, one 
on each of the southwest and northeast boundaries that are subject to TPO. 
Of these four, comprising three on the south east boundary and one in the 
south west corner of the site are required to be removed. One of these, a 
willow, has already collapsed, the others are considered of low value with 
poor form limited life potential. All other trees including the two subject to 
TPO are intended to be retained. There is also opportunity for further hedge 
and tree planting to enhance the site’s landscape amenity and ecological 
value on three of the site’s boundaries. 

 
6.11 Affordable housing and other section 106 planning requirements 
 

6.11.1 The application was accompanied by a confidential viability appraisal that 
has been independently assessed for the Council by the District Valuation 
Service (DVS). This process has been the subject of some very protracted 
discussion but in summary it has been concluded by the DVS that the 
development is able to bear an element of on-site affordable housing. Whilst 
the applicant company continues to doubt the values that the DVS considers 
can be achieved it is willing to enter into a legal agreement under s.106 with 
the Council to provide 4 x 2 bedroom and 2 x 3 bedroom dwellings on a 
‘shared ownership for sale’ basis based on the values the DVS identifies can 
be achieved. The Affordable Housing Development Officer  has confirmed 
that this is an acceptable offer and that the proposed mono tenure and unit 
size mix specified is acceptable given the location and small number of 
dwellings involved. 

 
6.11.2 The s.106 legal agreement to be negotiated will also contain clauses related 

to the provision of a reptile relocation site and for off-site improvements to 
the private stretch of road at the junction of Lower Waites Lane and 
Smuggler’s Way. The applicant will need to enter into an agreement under 
s.278 of the Highways Act with the Highway Authority in connection with 
tying in those improvements with the public highway. Long term maintenance 
of the SuDS scheme will be agreed and approved by way of condition in 
consultation with the LLFA. 

 
6.11.3 VL3 of the 2006 RDLP refers to the cliff stabilisation works at Rockmead 

Road, which have now been carried out. The policy also envisaged that an 
off-site foul drainage treatment package would be required but the up to date 
advice provided by Southern Water in connection with both recent 
applications on the site confirms that that is not the case. It has been 
suggested that the applicant should be required to make contributions to the 
on-going maintenance of the cliff and off site foul sewerage improvements in 
any event however the cost of those has not been quantified. Neither of 
these requirements would meet the test for obligations set out in the CIL 
Regulations 2010 that they must be: 

 
 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 
 Directly related to the development 
 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. In 

the context of the above matters, however, 15% of the CIL receipts from 

Page 32



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

the development will pass to the Parish Council if permission is granted. 
 

6.12 Other matters 
 

6.12.1 In other parts of the district objections to new development have been raised 
by Wealden District Council in regard to potential cumulative impacts on the 
air quality at Ashdown Forest and Lewes Downs Special Areas of 
Conservation (SACs). Nearby, the Hastings Cliffs SAC lies to the west of 
Fairlight Cove. Having regard to the conclusions of the Habitats Regulation 
Assessments undertaken for the adopted Core Strategy, supplemented by 
available evidence of commuting data for this locality, there is no discernable 
prospect of additional traffic from the proposed development impacting on 
the these Special Areas of Conservation in particular. Hence, any likely 
significant effects upon European sites, even in combination with other 
relevant plans and projects, can be screened out. 

 
 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 The site is located centrally within Fairlight village and within the established 

Development Boundary where development remains acceptable in principle 
subject to all other material considerations. The site is also an extant 
allocation for housing development as set out in saved Policy VL3 of the 
Rother District Local Plan 2006. 

 
7.2 There is a requirement over the Local Plan Core Strategy period 2011 – 

2028 for at least 37 dwellings (net) to be provided in the village and there are 
currently no other sites either allocated or identified to meet this need. In the 
circumstances significant weight must be given to the contribution that the 
development of the site would make both to the village housing and district 
requirement. 

 
7.3 The applicant has worked with officers to develop a scheme that addresses 

previous concerns regarding site layout and vehicular circulation, building 
design and affordable housing and it is confirmed that key matters including 
traffic and access, surface and foul water drainage and impact on protected 
species can be adequately addressed and mitigated subject to appropriate 
conditions and the completion of a s. 106 legal agreement. 

 
 

8.0 COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 

8.1 The development is liable for CIL in respect of the market dwellings 
proposed. The 6 shared ownership dwellings are a type of development 
where an exemption can be considered. 

 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT (FULL PLANNING) DELEGATED (COMPLETION 
OF A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT RELATING TO: 

 Provision of 6 shared ownership affordable housing units 

 The completion of off-site road improvements at the junction of Lower 
Waites Lane and Smugglers Way Reptile relocation site 

 

Page 33



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

CONDITIONS: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 
Reason: In accordance with section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans and documents: 
Drawing Nos. 662/303 P2 dated 26 April 2017 
Drawing Nos. 021 P2, 022 P2, 023 P2, 024 P2, 025 P2, 026 P2, 027 P2 and 
030 P dated 6 July 2017 
Drawing Nos. 007 P3, 008 P3, 028 P3 and 031 P2 dated 8 August 2017 
Drawing Nos. 304 P4, 002 P5, 003 P5, 004 P5 006 P4 dated 27 November 
2017 
Drainage Strategy and Sustainable Drainage Management and Maintenance 
Plan (Issue B) Monson dated 11 July 2017 
8330P/301 Rev B Surface Water Drainage Layout and 8330P/302 Rev B Foul 
Water Drainage Layout dated 11 July 2017 
7556 100 P2 Proposed Carriageway and Access Alignment dated 1 November 
2007 
Written Scheme of Archaeological Investigation, Chris Butler Archaeological 
Services Project No. CBAS0525 dated June 2014 
Arboricultural Report, Sylvan Arb Ref: SA/91/14 dated 27 June 2014 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning, 
as advised in Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 022 Reference ID: 21a-
022-20140306. 

 
3. No development shall commence until the vehicular access serving the 

development and the improvements to Lower Waites lane and Smugglers 
Way have been constructed in accordance with the approved plan drawing 
no. 7556 100 P2 dated 1/11/2007. 
Reason: A pre-commencement condition is required because the works are 
required to be carried out prior to any other development commencing to 
ensure that conditions of access and safety on Lower Waites Lane and 
Smugglers Way are maintained for all road users including during the 
construction period in accordance with Policies TR3 and CO6 of the Rother 
Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
4. No development shall take place including any ground works or works of 

demolition, until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the approved 
plan shall be implemented and adhered to in full throughout the entire 
construction period. The Plan shall provide details as appropriate but not 
restricted to the following matters: 
a) Anticipated number, frequency, and types of vehicles used during 

construction. 
b) The method of access and egress and routing of vehicles during 

construction. 
c) The parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors. 

d) The loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste. 
e) The storage of plant and materials used in the construction of the 

development. 

Page 34



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

f) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding. 
g) The provision and utilisation of wheel washing facilities and other works 

required to mitigate the impact of construction on the public highway 
(including the provision of temporary traffic Regulation Orders). 

h) Details of public engagement both prior to and during construction 
works. 

i) A named construction site manager with full contact details. 
 

Reason: A pre-commencement condition is required because the works 
need to be managed in all stages of construction to maintain safe traffic 
conditions on Lower Waites Lane and Smugglers Way, to maintain the safety 
of all road users and to maintain the amenities of the locality in accordance 
with Policies OSS4, TR3 and CO6 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy 

 
5. No development shall take place until an ecological design strategy (EDS) 

addressing enhancement of the site for biodiversity has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The EDS shall include the following: 
a) Purpose and conservation objectives of the proposed works. 
b) Review of site potential and constraints. 
c) Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to achieve

 stated objectives. 
d) Extent and location/area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps 

and plans. 
e) Type and source of materials to be used where appropriate, e.g. native 

species of local provenance. 
f) Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with 

the proposed phasing of development. 
g) Persons responsible for implementing the works. 
h) Details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance. 
i) Details for monitoring and remedial measures. 
j) Details for disposal of any wastes arising from the works. 
The EDS shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and 
all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter. 
Reason: A pre-commencement condition is required to enable the Local 
Planning Authority to properly ensure the protection of protected species 
identified by EU & UK Wildlife Protection Legislation and the UK Biodiversity 
Action Plan in accordance with Policy EN5 (ii), (v) and (viii) of the Local Plan 
Core Strategy. 

 
6. No development shall take place (including any demolition, ground works, 

site clearance) until a method statement for the rescue and translocation of 
reptiles has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The content of the method statement shall include the: 
a) Purpose and objectives of the proposed works. 
b) Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) necessary to achieve 

stated objectives (including, where relevant, type and source of 
materials to be used). 

c) Extent and location of proposed works shown on appropriate scale 
maps and plans. 

d) Timetable for implementation, demonstrating that works are aligned 
with the proposed phasing of construction. 

e) Persons responsible for implementing the works. 
f) Initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant). 

Page 35



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

g) Disposal of waste arising from works. 
The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
shall be retained in that manner thereafter. 
Reason: A pre-commencement condition is required to enable the Local 
Planning Authority to properly ensure the protection of protected species 
identified by EU & UK Wildlife Protection Legislation and the UK Biodiversity 
Action Plan in accordance with Policy EN5(ii), (v) and (viii) of the Local Plan 
Core Strategy. 

 
7. No development shall take place until the developer has secured the 

implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with 
the approved Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) prepared by Chris 
Butler Archaeological Services dated June 2014 Project No. CBAS0525. 
Reason: A pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the 
archaeological and historical interest of the site below ground is safeguarded 
and recorded to comply with the National Planning Policy Framework and in 
accordance with Policy EN2 (vi) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 

8. No development shall commence until a surface water drainage scheme has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Local Lead Flood Authority: The scheme will require: 

 
a) Carry forward into the detailed design the principles outlined in the 

Monson Drainage Strategy and Sustainable Drainage Management and 
Maintenance Plan (Issue B) dated 11 July 2017. The scheme should 
limit surface water runoff from the completed development to 2.7l/s for 
all rainfall events, including those with a 1 in 100 (plus climate change) 
annual probability of occurrence. Evidence of this (in the form of 
hydraulic calculations should take into account the connectivity of 
difference surface water drainage features. 

b) The proposed watercourse diversion should be designed such that the 
amended channel has an equal or greater capacity for conveying water 
than currently exists. Evidence of this (in the form of hydraulic 
calculations) should be submitted with the detailed drainage drawings. 

c)  A Maintenance and Management Plan for the entire drainage system 
The Plan shall clearly state who will be responsible for managing all 
aspects of the surface water drainage system, including piped drains, 
and the appropriate authority should be satisfied with the submitted 
details. Evidence that these responsibility arrangements will remain in 
place throughout the lifetime of the development should be provided to 
the Local Planning Authority as part of the Maintenance and 
Management Plan. 

Thereafter none of the dwellings shall be occupied until the surface water 
drainage works to serve the development have been provided in accordance 
with the approved details and evidence of such provided to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: These details are integral to the whole development and are 
therefore required prior to commencement of works to prevent the increased 
risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, and ensure future 
maintenance of the surface water drainage system in accordance with 
Policies SRM2 (iii) and EN7 (iii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and 
paragraphs 100 and 103 of the National Planning Policy Framework with 
accompanying ministerial statement of December 2014. Construction of the 
development shall not commence until details of the proposed means of foul 

Page 36



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

water sewerage disposal have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: These details are integral to the whole development and are 
therefore required prior to commencement of works to prevent the increased 
risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, and ensure future 
maintenance of the surface water drainage system in accordance with 
Policies SRM2 (iii) and EN7 (iii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and 
paragraphs 100 and 103 of the National Planning Policy Framework with 
accompanying ministerial statement of December 2014. 

 
9. No development shall commence until details for the protection of existing 

trees and hedgerows on the site to be retained have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include 
indications of all existing trees and hedgerows on the land including details of 
those to be retained, together with a scheme for protection, which shall 
include locations for protective fencing, ground protection and no dig surface 
construction methods in accordance with the Arboricultural Report prepared 
by Sylvan Arb, Ref: SA/91/14 dated 2th June 2014. The approved scheme 
shall be put in place prior to the commencement of any development and 
shall be maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials 
have been removed from the site. Nothing shall be stored or placed in any 
area fenced in accordance with this condition and the ground levels within 
those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without 
the written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: These details are required prior to commencement of works to 
ensure the protection of retained trees and hedgerows during construction 
and the creation of a high quality public realm and landscape setting in 
accordance with Policy EN3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
10. No works which include the creation of trenches or culverts or the presence 

of pipes shall commence until measures to protected badgers from being 
trapped in open excavations and/or pipe and culverts are submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA. The measures may include: 
a) creation of escape ramps for badgers, which may be achieved by 

edge profiling of trenches/excavations or by using planks placed into 
them at the end of each working day; and 

b) open pipework greater than 150 mm outside diameter being blanked 
off at the end of each working day. 

Reason: To properly ensure the protection of rare and protected species 
identified by EU & UK Wildlife Protection Legislation and the UK Biodiversity 
Action Plan in accordance with Policy EN5(ii), (v) and (viii) of the Local Plan 
Core Strategy. 

 
11. No development above foundation level shall commence until a scheme of 

soft and hard landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include: 
a) Details of all hard landscaping; 
b) Design, layout and appearance of structural and amenity green space, 

including verges. 
c) Planting plans, including for landscape and ecological mitigation 

d) Written specifications (including cultivation and other
 operations associated with plant and grass establishment). 

e) Schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed 
numbers/densities where appropriate. 

Page 37



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

f) Details for implementation. 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
details as approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and in 
accordance with an agreed implementation programme. 
Reason: To ensure the creation of a high quality public realm and landscape 
setting that enhances the character and appearance of the development and 
its locality in accordance with Policies OSS4 and EN3 of the Rother Local 
Plan Core Strategy. 

 
12. No development above ground level shall take place until there has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a plan 
indicating the positions, design, height, materials and type of boundary 
treatment to be erected. The boundary treatment shall be completed before 
the buildings are occupied. Development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure a high quality development taking account of the semi 
rural characteristics of the locality in accordance with Policies OSS4 (iii) and 
EN3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
13. No development above ground level shall take place until samples of the 

materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To preserve the visual amenities of the area in accordance with 
Policies OSS4 (iii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
14. No development above ground level shall take place before any external 

lighting scheme proposed is submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The lighting scheme shall comply with the  
Institution of Lighting Professionals Guidance Note for the reduction of 
obtrusive light 2011(or later versions) and be designed so that it is the 
minimum needed for security and operational processes and be installed to 
minimise potential pollution caused by glare and spillage. The lighting 
scheme shall thereafter be implemented and maintained only as approved. 
Reason: To prevent light pollution in the interests of the amenities of 
adjoining residents and to protect the dark sky environment that is 
characteristic of Fairlight village in accordance with Policy OSS4 (ii) and (iii) 
of the Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
15. No part of the development shall be occupied until full details of refuse and 

recycling storage facilities have first been submitted to and approved in 
writing and those facilities have been provided in accordance with the 
approved details. The areas shall thereafter be retained for that use and shall 
not be used for any other purpose. 
Reason: To ensure that the satisfactory appearance of the development and 
the area is maintained in accordance with Policies TR3 and OSS4 (iii) of the 
Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
16. No part of the development shall be occupied until the car parking spaces 

have been constructed and provided in accordance with the approved plan 
(drawing no. 622/003 P5 dated 27/11/2017). The areas shall thereafter 
be retained for that use and shall not be used other than for the parking of 
motor vehicles. 

Page 38



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate on-site parking that does not 
prejudice the free flow of traffic or conditions of general safety along the 
highway in accordance with Policies CO6, TR4 and TR3 of the Rother Local 
Plan Core Strategy 

 
17. No part of the development shall be occupied until the vehicle turning space 

has been constructed within the site in accordance with the approved  
drawing no. 622/003 P5 dated 27/11/2017. The space shall thereafter be 
retained at all times for this use only and shall not be obstructed. 
Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate turning facilities that do not 
prejudice the free flow of traffic or conditions of general safety along the 
highway in accordance with Policies CO6 and TR3 of the Rother Local Plan 
Core Strategy. 

 
18. No part of the development shall be occupied until the road, footways and 

parking areas serving the development have been constructed, drained and 
lit in accordance with plans and details that have first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate pedestrian and vehicular 
access and on-site parking so as not to prejudice the free flow of traffic or 
conditions of general safety along the highway in accordance with Policies 
CO6, TR4 and TR3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 

19. No part of the development shall be occupied until covered and secure cycle 
parking spaces have been provided in accordance with plans and details 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the 
areas shall thereafter be retained for that use and shall not be used other 
than for the parking of cycles. 
Reason: in order that the development site is accessible by non-car modes 
and to meet the objectives of sustainable development in accordance with 
Policy TR3 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
20. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 

archaeological site investigation and post investigation assessment has been 
completed in accordance with the programme set out in the approved WSI 
and that provision for analysis, publication and dissemination of results and 
archive deposition has been secured, unless an alternative timescale for 
submission of the report is first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason: A pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the 
archaeological and historical interest of the site below ground is safeguarded 
and recorded to comply with the National Planning Policy Framework and in 
accordance with Policy EN2 (vi) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
21. Prior to the occupation of the development, a landscape management plan, 

including management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for the 
communal hard and soft landscape areas including any street furniture and 
minor artefacts therein, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. The landscape management plan shall be carried out as 
approved. 
Reason: To ensure a high quality public realm taking account of the 
characteristics of the locality and enhancing the landscape character and 
quality of the High Weald AONB in accordance with Policies OSS4 (iii) and 
EN3 (ii) (e) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy 

Page 39



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

 
22. Unless alternative times are specifically agreed in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority, construction activities associated with the development 
hereby permitted shall not be carried out other than between the hours of 
08:00 and 18:00 hours on Mondays to Fridays inclusive and 08:00 and 13.00 
on Saturdays and not at any time on Sundays, Bank and Public Holidays. 
Reason: So as not to unreasonably harm the amenities of adjoining 
properties in accordance with Policies OSS4 (ii) and CO6 of the Rother Local 
Plan Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
23. If within a period of five years from the date of occupation any tree planted or 

any tree planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted, destroyed or 
dies, [or becomes, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously 
damaged or defective] another tree of the same species and size as that 
originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 
Reason: To enhance the appearance of the development and the character 
and appearance of the locality in accordance with Policies OSS4 and EN3 of 
the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
24. In this condition "retained tree" means an existing tree which is to be retained 

in accordance with the approved plans and particulars; and paragraphs (a) 
and (b) below shall have effect until the expiration of 5 years from the date of 
the occupation of the building for its permitted use. 
a) No retained tree shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any 

retained tree be topped or lopped other than in accordance with the 
approved plans and particulars, without the written approval of the 
Local Planning Authority. Any topping or lopping approved shall be 
carried out in accordance with British Standard [3998 (Tree Work)]. 

b) If any retained tree is removed, uprooted, destroyed or dies, another 
tree shall be planted at the same place and that tree shall be of such 
size and species, and shall be planted at such time, as may be 
specified in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

c) The erection of fencing for the protection of any retained tree shall be 
undertaken in accordance with the approved plans and particulars 
before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought on to the site 
for the purposes of the development, and shall be maintained until all 
equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from 
the site. Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area fenced in 
accordance with this condition and the ground levels within those areas 
shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without the 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 

d) No fire shall be lit within 10m from the outside of the crown spread of 
any tree which is to be retained. 

e) No equipment, machinery or structure shall be attached to or 
supported by a retained tree. 

f) No mixing of cement or use of other contaminating materials or 
substances shall take place within, or close enough to, a root 
protection area that seepage or displacement could cause them to 
enter a root protection area. 

No alterations or variations to the approved works or tree protection 
schemes shall be made without prior written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason: To ensure that trees are not damaged or otherwise adversely 

Page 40



pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

affected by building operations and soil compaction to enhance the 
appearance of the development in accordance with Policies OSS4 (iii) and 
EN3 (ii) (e) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy 

 
25. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, (or any order revoking or re- 
enacting this Order with or without modification), the garages hereby 
approved shall retained for such use and shall not be altered internally or 
externally for use as habitable accommodation. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory level of off-road parking facilities so as not 
to prejudice the free flow of traffic and conditions of general safety along the 
highway and to accord with Policy TR4 of the Rother Local Plan Core 
Strategy 

 
26. Notwithstanding the provisions of Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, (or any order revoking or re- 
enacting this Order with or without modification), no fences, gates or walls, 
buildings or structures of any kind, shall be erected within the curtilage of any 
dwelling house forward of any wall of that dwelling house which fronts onto a 
road. 
Reason: To safeguard the open and green character and appearance of the 
development and area in accordance with Policy OSS4 (iii) of the Rother 
Local Plan Core Strategy 

 
NOTES: 
 
1. This permission is the subject of an obligation under Section 106 of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

2. The applicant is reminded of the need to enter into Section 278 agreement 
with the Highway Authority to tie the road improvement works into the public 
highway 
 

3. The Highway Authority would wish to see the roads within the site laid out and 
constructed to standards at, or at least close to, adoption standards 
 

4. A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required 
in order to service this development. Please contact Southern Water, 
Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW 
(Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk 
 

5. Part of the site is affected by a public foul sewer. It might be possible to divert 
this so long as it would not result in an unacceptable loss of hydraulic capacity 
and the work is carried out at the developer’s expense to the satisfaction of 
Southern Water under the relevant statutory provisions. Please see Southern 
Water’s correspondence of 13 April 2017 for the relevant criteria to be applied 
to any diversion of apparatus. 
 

6. Due to changes in legislation that came into force on 1 October 2011 it is 
possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the 
application site. Should any such sewer be found during construction works 
an investigation of the sewer will be required to ascertain its condition, the 
number of properties served and potential means of access before any further 
works take place on site. 

Page 41

http://www.southernwater.co.uk/


pl200716 – RR/2017/457/P 

 
7. The Applicant is reminded that under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

(Section 1) it is an offence to take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird 
while that nest is in use or being built. Planning permission for a development 
does not provide a defence against prosecution under this Act. Trees and 
scrub are likely to contain nesting birds between 1 March and 31 July. Trees 
and scrub are present on the application site and should be assumed to 
contain nesting birds between the above dates unless a survey has shown it 
is absolutely certain that nesting birds are not present. 
 

8. The Applicant is reminded that it is an offence to damage or destroy species 
protected under separate legislation. Planning permission for a development 
does not provide a defence against prosecution under European and UK 
wildlife protection legislation. The presence of protected species cannot be 
discounted on this site given its character and location and a precautionary 
approach must be taken to all site clearance and construction works. Should 
any protected species is encountered during these works all work on site 
should cease and advice sought on how to proceed from a suitably qualified 
and experienced ecologist. Separate licences and consents may be required 
to undertake work on the site where protected species are found. 
 

9. This development will be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
and all interested parties are referred to http://www.rother.gov.uk/CIL for 
further information and the charging schedule. 

 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK: 
In accordance with the requirements of the Framework (paragraphs 186 and 187) 
and with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015, the Local Planning Authority has acted positively and 
proactively in determining this application by identifying matters of concern within the 
application (as originally submitted) and negotiating, with the applicant, acceptable 
amendments to the proposal to address those concerns. As a result, the Local 
Planning Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable 
proposal, in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, 
as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
View application/correspondence 

 

Page 42

http://www.rother.gov.uk/CIL


pl200716 – RR/2020/296/P 

  

Page 43

Agenda Item 8



pl200716 – RR/2020/296/P 

Rother District Council 
 

Report to   -  Planning Committee 

Date    - 16 July 2020  

Report of the  -  Executive Director 

Subject - Application RR/2020/296/P 

Address - Little Common Recreation Ground 

  BEXHILL 

Proposal - Permanent enclosure of pitch four with wire V mesh 
fencing 1.83m in height. Installation of six gates. 
Provision of hard surfaced footpath and installation of a 
50-seat spectator stand and 75-person standing stand. 

View application/correspondence 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  It be RESOLVED to GRANT (FULL PLANNING) 
 

 
Head of Service: Tim Hickling 
 

 
Applicant:   Little Common FC 
Case Officer: Mr J. Pyrah 

(Email: Jeff.Pyrah@rother.gov.uk) 
Parish: BEXHILL – ST MARKS 
Ward Member(s): Councillors S.J. Errington and K.M. Harmer 
  
Reason for Committee consideration: Head of Service Strategy and Planning 
referral: Council owned land 
 
Statutory 8 week date: 3 June 2020 
Extension of time agreed to: 17 July 2020 
 

 
1.0 SUMMARY 

 
1.1 It is recommended that planning permission is granted for the erection of 

fencing around Little Common Recreation Ground’s pitch 4, together with the 
erection of two stands and a tarmac path between them. These improvements 
to the sports facility are in accordance with Policy CO3 of the Rother Local 
Plan Core Strategy and taking account of other adopted planning policies 
including those relating to car parking and protection of residential amenity as 
well as other material planning considerations would provide an overall benefit 
to the District through improved football pitch facilities in Bexhill, where deficits 
in facilities are identified. This is subject to a condition requiring the side gates 
to be kept open for public access on non-match days. 

 

 
 
 

Page 44

http://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2020/296/P
mailto:Jeff.Pyrah@rother.gov.uk


pl200716 – RR/2020/296/P 

2.0 SITE 
 
2.1 Little Common Recreation Ground is located to the rear of dwellings in 

Eastergate and Peartree Lane. The site lies within the Development Boundary 
for Bexhill and comprises a mix of football pitches, play areas, general space, 
sports pavilion and toilet block.  

 
2.2 Pitch No. 4 – the subject of this application - is used by the local football club 

who are the applicants. This is the closest pitch to surrounding dwellings, 
separated from the gardens of 51 - 61 (odds) Eastergate on the north-west 
side by a narrow band of deciduous trees. The pitch runs lengthways to the 
adjoining properties. There are six floodlight columns. The car park that 
serves the site is located along the rear boundary of the dwellings in Peartree 
Lane. 

 
2.3 Public footpath 65 runs along the northern edge of the pitch, while public 

footpath 48b cuts across the south-western corner of the pitch before turning 
southwards to cross the recreation ground. 

 

 
3.0 PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 It is proposed to erect fencing around the existing pitch area. The fence would 

be of an open wire mesh design (green in colour), 1.83m high. There would 
be six gates - one each close to the eastern end corner posts; one on the 
halfway line on the northern side, one on the southern edge (on the 48b public 
footpath alignment) and two on the western edge (one of which is one the 48b 
public footpath alignment), facing the pavilion - and these would be open to 
enable access through them apart from on match days. 

 
3.2 One of the existing stands would be replaced with a 50-person seated stand 

(with four rows of seats) and a 75-person standing stand added. Both stands 
would be located at the western end of the pitch, where the existing stands 
are and a 1m wide tarmac path is proposed to connect them. Both stands 
would be around 3m high and wrapped in green coloured metal sheeting, 
including their roofs. 

 
3.3 The erection of the fencing requires the existing footpath (Public Right of Way 

No. 48b) to be redirected. The footpath alignment cuts across the south-
western corner of the pitch and it is proposed to divert it, so that it would run 
along the outside edge of the western touch line (outside the fence) and 
directly across the open space to the south. Public footpath 65 runs along the 
northern edge of the pitch, outside of the proposed fence line. 

 

 
4.0 HISTORY 
 
4.1 B/51/209 Extension of recreation ground. Approved. 
 
4.2 B/69/319 Sports pavilion. Approved conditional. 
 
4.3 RR/85/1380 Football trainers’ dugout. Approved conditional. 
 
4.4 RR/98/1256/3R New sports pavilion, alter existing sports pitches and 

Page 45



pl200716 – RR/2020/296/P 

improvements to existing car parking facilities. Approved 
conditional. 

 
4.5 RR/2001/1932/3R Removal and deposit spoil on adjoining site, proposed 

new sports pavilion, alterations and additions to sports 
pitches, improvements to existing car park facilities. 
Approved conditional. 

 
4.6 RR/2005/1014/P Installation of a pitch side barrier to pitch No. 4; use of 

semi-permanent tubular steel post and top rail, in use 
only September to April each year. Approved conditional. 

 
4.7 RR/2009/1638/P Hard surfaced footpath along northwest pitch boundary of 

pitch No. 4. Extension of two dugouts. Double present 
size. (Retrospective). Approved conditional. 

 
4.8 RR/2009/2818/P Erection of 6 No. 15m high masts/floodlights.  
  Approved conditional. 
 
4.9 RR/2010/1922/P Provision of hard surfaced footpath along the northeast 

end of the pitch and between the sports pavilion and the 
pitch. Erection of spectator stand alongside existing 
stand. 

 
4.10 RR/2015/1229/P Variation of Condition 4 of planning permission 

RR/2009/2818/P to allow use of floodlights in April in any 
year (restrictions May-August to remain). Approved 
conditional. 

 

 
5.0 POLICIES 
 
5.1 The following policies of the adopted Rother Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 

are relevant to the proposal: 

 Policy CO3 (Improving Sports and Recreation Provision) 

 Policy OOS4 (General Development Considerations) 

 Policy TR4 (Car Parking) 
 
5.2 Playing pitch provision in Rother is referred to in paragraph 9.13 of the 

adopted Development and Site Allocations Local Plan (DaSA). It advises that 
the Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) highlights specific deficiencies in 
both football and rugby pitches and that the deficit of football pitches is 
particularly acute in Bexhill, particularly due to a number of Bexhill-based 
clubs who require enclosed pitches to progress through the football league 
structure. It states that it is imperative that the existing facilities are 
safeguarded, in line with Core Strategy Policy CO3, but also that 
new/previously used sites within Bexhill are brought back into use. 

 
5.3 The following Council documents are considered relevant to the proposal: 

 Green Spaces, Sport and Recreation Study, 2006 

 Rother and Hastings Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS), 2016 
 
5.4 The National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Policy Guidance are 

also material considerations. Section 8 of the National Planning Policy 

Page 46

http://www.rother.gov.uk/CoreStrategy
http://www.rother.gov.uk/dasa


pl200716 – RR/2020/296/P 

Framework advises that planning decisions should aim to achieve healthy, 
inclusive and safe places; and social, recreational and cultural facilities and 
services to meet community need. 

 

 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.1 RDC Neighbourhood Services – NO OBJECTION 
 
6.1.1 At Rother District Council’s Cabinet meeting on 4 November 2019, Members 

granted Little Common FC an eight year lease of Pitch 4 for the Club to 
undertake a number of ground grading works (the fencing and spectator stand 
proposed by this application) in order to comply with the Football 
Association’s (FA) ground grading requirements (cabinet minute CB19/61). 

 
The proposals will enable the Club’s first team to return to the ground to play 
home games. 

 
6.2 Planning Notice 
 
6.2.1 Approximately 35 objections have been received. The concerns raised are 

summarised as follows: 
 

 Impact of cars parking on surrounding residential roads. 

 Noise on match days, especially from spectators. 

 Loss/privatisation of public space. 

 Impact of placing a permanent barrier in open space. 

 Impact of relocation of the public footpath. 

 Impact on residential amenity and privacy. 
 

6.2.2 Approximately 175 comments in support have been made. Some of these are 
from further afield, but the majority are from residents of Bexhill and Little 
Common. The reasons are summarised as follows: 

 

 It creates a community hub for sport. 

 It brings league football back to Bexhill. 

 Many kids are supported and trained by the Club. 

 This is a grass roots club. 

 It is on a large space and there is space for everyone. 

 The parking issues are minor. 
 

 
7.0 LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS 
  
7.1 There are no local finance considerations, as defined by Section 70(4) of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



pl200716 – RR/2020/296/P 

8.0 APPRAISAL 
 
8.1 Principle of Development 
  
8.1.1 The site is an established football pitch. In the Council’s 2006 open space 

study, Little Common Recreation Ground, in which it is located, is defined as 
an ‘outdoor sports facility’. Note that other open spaces in Bexhill are defined 
as ‘parks and gardens’; ‘amenity green space’; or ‘natural and semi-natural 
open space’. Hence, while the recreation ground has a valuable role, 
providing public open space with many of the characteristics of parks and 
other green and open spaces, its primary purpose is the provision of sports 
facilities. This role is emphasised visually, by the flat open spaces, the 
pavilion and tennis courts. 

 
8.1.2 The proposals for this playing pitch accord with adopted Core Strategy Policy 

CO3(ii) which advises that proposals for the improvement of existing facilities 
will be permitted where deficits in facilities are identified. This deficiency is 
identified in paragraph 9.13 of the adopted DaSA, which refers to the 2016 
Rother & Hastings playing pitch strategy and the deficiency of league-
standard pitches in Bexhill. This requirement for league-standard pitches is 
highlighted, in reality, by the fact that Little Common FC currently have to play 
their home matches in Eastbourne and have had to do so for the past three 
years (2017 to 2020). The Club advises that their first team had previously 
played their home matches on pitch 4 on Little Common Recreation Ground 
for 51 years.  

 
8.2 Other Considerations 
 
8.2.1 The principle of improving this playing pitch is therefore supported by the 

adopted development plan as well as by the Bexhill residents and fans of the 
Club from further afield who have written in support. However, this benefit 
should be weighed against Policy OSS4, which seeks to ensure residential 
amenity is not harmed. The negatives identified by local objections must also 
be considered. 

 
8.2.2 Little Common Football Club’s secretary has written to respond to the issues 

raised in the objections. He explains that other options in Bexhill have been 
explored, including the use of the Gullivers site in Sidley and the old Northeye 
Prison site. Both are identified in the adopted DaSA for future sports pitch 
use, but both are in private hands and are not currently available. They also 
advise that the option to continue to play at Eastbourne United AFC’s ground 
will cease at the beginning of the 2021/22 season, because the Eastbourne 
club plan to introduce extra teams of their own. Little Common FC will 
therefore be effectively ‘homeless’. 

 
 Parking 
8.2.3 Core Strategy Policy TR4(i) advises that permission should be granted where 

provision for parking meets the residual needs of the development, having full 
regard to the potential for access by means other than the car, and to any 
safety, congestion or amenity impacts of a reliance on parking off-site. 

 
8.2.4 The application seeks permission for the erection of 50 seat and 75 standing 

spectator stands. This is a FA ground grading requirement, rather than a club 
requirement. The Club advises that the number of spectators varies 

Page 48



pl200716 – RR/2020/296/P 

depending on the weather, the Club they are playing and the importance of 
the game. They advise that many of their matches are watched by less than 
100 spectators. Regardless of this, the provision of a greater capacity of 
covered spectator facilities is likely to encourage spectators. However, while 
this is the case, this is an existing facility where the number of spectators 
reflect the interest in the match, and this would be the case whether these 
proposals are implemented or not. Therefore, it is not considered that the 
introduction of improved spectator facilities of the capacity proposed will, in 
itself, lead to an unacceptable additional demand for parking or an 
unacceptable amenity impact. These factors are a function of the existing 
facility. 

 
8.2.5 The Club advises that it has access to an overflow car park, and they have 

advised that it will be possible for their team’s players to park in it on match 
days. This is to be welcomed. Given that it is considered that the proposals 
will not lead to an unacceptable impact, it is not considered that it would be 
necessary or reasonable, through a planning condition, to require the team to 
park in the overflow car park. 

 
 Noise 
8.2.6 Core Strategy Policy OSS4 requires development to not unreasonably harm 

the amenities if adjoining properties. Several objectors are concerned that the 
noise generated by matches will be unreasonable and a number have 
referred to the use of foul and abusive language. While this may be an issue 
generated by matches on this pitch, this would be the case in any event and 
could be an issue generated by any users of the recreation ground. It is not 
considered to be an issue generated by this proposal. The Club highlights 
their role in reminding players to respect other users of the recreation ground 
and surrounding residents and, it could be argued, the fencing of the pitch will 
enable greater control of spectators and the ability to evict spectators involved 
in unacceptable behaviour. This is a management, rather than a planning 
issue. 

 
 Enclosure of the pitch 
8.2.7 The erection of fencing will lead to an area of the recreation ground being 

unavailable for general use in the way that it is now, although it is proposed 
that the gates will be open to enable public access except on match days.  
The land is primarily a sports facility as explained in section 8.1 above, and as 
such the use of pitches for league-standard football is supported and currently 
lacking in Bexhill. The pitch, and the other pitches and courts are in any event, 
unusable during match and training use and the recreation ground is a large 
open space, the majority of which will remain open and publicly accessible. 
The requirement for the gates to be left open when the pitch is not in use can 
be ensured by condition. The enclosure of the pitch is therefore not 
considered to lead to an unacceptable loss of public space. 

 
8.2.8 Objectors have asked whether the fencing could be temporary and removed 

at the end of each season. As set out above, this is not considered necessary 
for the application to be acceptable. 

 
8.2.9 The fencing would also have a visual impact on the locality. It is considered 

that the fencing is typical of the type used to enclose sports pitches and courts 
and would not detract from the character and appearance of the locality. 

 

Page 49



pl200716 – RR/2020/296/P 

 Relocation of the footpath 
8.2.10 The public right of way alignment of footpath 48b currently crosses the south-

western corner of the pitch. This alignment is not marked on the ground and, 
of course, the recreation ground, not just the footpath route, is publicly 
accessible. The diversion of the footpath is therefore not necessarily a 
concern, if a publicly accessible route remains available, at all times, from 
north to south across the recreation ground. The proposed diversion would 
ensure that this is the case and this diversion can be secured through section 
257 of the Town and Country Planning Act. During this process, and if 
planning permission has granted, the Public Rights of Way Officer has 
advised that the fencing could be erected, because the proposed gates will 
retain access to the existing footpath alignment. 

 
 Other Issues 
8.2.11 Concerns have been raised regarding the impact of floodlighting on residential 

amenity. However, no changes are proposed to the lighting permitted by 
RR/2009/2818/P, as amended by RR/2015/1229/P. The conditions relating to 
floodlighting are repeated on the proposed recommendation for 
completeness. 

 

 
9.0 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 It is proposed to construct a fence around pitch 4 on Little Common 

Recreation Ground, as well as install 50 seat and 75 standing spectator 
stands and a tarmac path between them. These works are required by the 
Football Association for Little Common Football Club first team to play 
matches here. There are no other available FA-grade facilities in Bexhill and 
the Club has played at Eastbourne United AFC’s ground for the past three 
seasons. 

 
9.2 Improvements to sports facilities are supported by adopted Core Strategy 

Policy CO3(ii) and the deficiency of such facilities in Bexhill is highlighted in 
the adopted DaSA as well as the Rother & Hastings Playing Pitch Strategy. 
The proposals therefore accord with development plan policy. This benefit 
should be weighed against other planning policies, particularly Core Strategy 
Policies TR4 (car parking) and OSS4 (general development considerations) 
and any other material planning considerations. 

 
9.3 The effect of parked cars on match days is the key concern of objectors. 

While matches may generate significant numbers of spectators, this is as 
expected at an outdoor sports facility and therefore is an existing situation. 
Many activities on the recreation ground could attract visitors and it is likely 
that, as far as matches are concerned, interest in the particular match due to 
the teams playing or importance of the competition would be the main drivers 
of numbers, not the stands or fencing proposed by this application. 

 
9.4 Noise is also a concern but, it is considered to be an issue for the Club to 

manage, not a consequence of the proposals if they are approved and 
implemented. Enclosure of the pitch has a visual effect as well as reducing 
the total amount of publicly available open space. However, the primary use 
of the recreation ground is to provide a sports facility, there is considerable 
available open space on the recreation ground and the proposed fencing is, 
being open mesh and green coloured, of a type one would associate with a 

Page 50



pl200716 – RR/2020/296/P 

sports facility. Diversion of the public right of way is a further concern of 
objectors, however, the diverted footpath will continue to provide a suitable 
and satisfactory route across the recreation ground (which is open and 
publicly accessible ground in any event). 

 
9.5 In conclusion, the proposals are supported by adopted planning policy and will 

enable the local football club to play competitively on their home ground. The 
material planning objections are not considered to outweigh the benefit of 
permitted the proposal in this instance and the application should be granted. 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT (FULL PLANNING) 
 

 
CONDITIONS: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 
Reason: In accordance with section 91 of The Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans and details: 
Existing Site Block Plan, BA2018.02 
Proposed Site Location Plan, BA2019/04/A, dated Feb 2020 
Arena Seating, S-50/2, dated 20/08 2018 
Arena Seating, ST-110/1, dated 05/10/2018 
Footpath diversion diagram, 001, submitted with the application 
Aerial diagram, 011, submitted with the application (showing approved 
location of gates) 
V-mesh panel fencing diagram, 005, submitted with the application 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning, as 
advised in Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 022 Reference ID: 21a-
022-20140306. 

 
3. The six gates hereby permitted, as shown on approved diagram 011, shall be 

kept open and the football pitch made available for public access, when not in 
use by Little Common Football Club. 
Reason: To retain access to public open space and promote the enjoyment of 
more healthy lifestyles in accordance with Policy CO3 of the adopted Rother 
Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
4. The floodlighting approved by RR/2009/2818/P shall not be used on: 

 any consecutive evening. 

 more than six weekday evenings in any one calendar month from 
September to March. 

 more than once a weekday evening per week during April, subject to 
Rother District Council’s Season Dates. 

Reason: To safeguard the visual and residential amenities of the locality in 
accordance with Policy OSS4 (ii) and (iii) of the Rother District Local Plan – 
Core Strategy. 

 

Page 51



pl200716 – RR/2020/296/P 

5. The floodlighting approved by RR/2009/2818/P shall not be used from 1 May 
to 1 September in any calendar year.  
Reason: To safeguard the visual and residential amenities of the locality in 
accordance with Policy OSS4 (ii) and (iii) of the Rother District Local Plan – 
Core Strategy. 

 
6.  The floodlighting approved by RR/2009/2818/P shall only be used for matches 

by Little Common Football Club, except for one Cup Final tie per season and 
shall not be used for any training sessions. 
Reason: To safeguard the visual and residential amenities of the locality in 
accordance with Policy OSS4 (ii) and (iii) of the Rother District Local Plan – 
Core Strategy. 

 
7. The lighting approved by RR/2009/2918/P shall be maintained in accordance 

with the manufacturer’s specification unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. If any associated light spill or glare becomes visually 
intrusive within the landscape or detrimental to the residential amenities of the 
area, the luminaire direction and angle shall be adjusted to minimise any such 
impacts. 

 Reason: To safeguard the visual and residential amenities of the locality in 
accordance with Policy OSS4 (ii) and (iii) of the Rother District Local Plan – 
Core Strategy. 

 
NOTE: 
 
1. Changes to the existing alignment of the Public Footpath 48b as required 

should be the subject of an application for a public path diversion order under 
section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act. 

  
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK: In accordance with the 
requirements of the Framework (paragraph 38) and with the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local 
Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application. As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant planning 
permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

Page 52



pl200716 – RR/2020/485/P 

  

Page 53

Agenda Item 9



pl200716 – RR/2020/485/P 

Rother District Council 
 

Report to   -  Planning Committee 

Date    - 16 July 2020  

Report of the  -  Executive Director 

Subject - Application RR/2020/485/P 

Address - 1A Devonshire Square, Flats 1-4 

  BEXHILL 

Proposal - Proposed replacement of timber windows with uPVC 
heritage type. 

View application/correspondence  

 

 
RECOMMENDATION: It be RESOLVED to REFUSE (PLANNING PERMISSION) 
 

 
Head of Service: Tim Hickling 
 

 
Applicant:   Mrs M. Parish 
Agent: Elevations Design Ltd 
Case Officer: Mr James Laibach 

(Email:  james.laibach@rother.gov.uk) 
Parish: BEXHILL 
Ward Member(s): Councillors C.A. Bayliss and P.C. Courtel 
  
Reason for Committee consideration: Member referral: Councillor Christine 
Bayliss: To consider the impact on the conservation area given that several 
surrounding properties have installed uPVC windows, the proposed designs are 
heritage style and the building is not listed. In addition, to consider energy efficiency. 
 
Statutory 8 week date: 1 July 2020 
Extension of time agreed to: 28 July 2020 
 

 
1.0 SUMMARY  

 
1.1 This proposal is for the replacement of the existing timber frame windows in 

flats 1 to 4 Devonshire Square with vertically sliding sash uPVC Windows. 
There are 19 windows and they relate to the flats on the upper (first and 
second) floors located within a mixed commercial and residential property. 
The property, although not listed, occupies a prominent corner position 
within the Bexhill Town Centre Conservation Area, on Devonshire Square. 

 
1.2 While of a ‘heritage style’, the proposed uPVC window frames fail to 

replicate the characteristics of timber sash windows due to their flat texture, 
large section size, lack of historic detailing and depth which would 
cumulatively result in a very different window appearance to the existing 
timber windows which they would replace. Given the prominent location of 
the building within the Conservation Area, the 19 uPVC windows proposed 

Page 54

http://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2020/485/P
mailto:james.laibach@rother.gov.uk


pl200716 – RR/2020/485/P 

would erode the character and appearance of the Conservation Area 
contrary to adopted Policy EN2 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and 
to the statutory duty conferred on Local Planning Authorities by Section 72 of 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, when 
exercising planning functions, to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that [conservation] 
area. 

 

 
2.0 SITE 
 
2.1 This application relates to the flats on the upper floors located within a mixed 

commercial and residential property. The site occupies a prominent corner 
position within the Bexhill Town Centre Conservation Area, characterised, in 
the central area, largely by three storey Edwardian townhouses/terraces with 
shops to the ground floors. 

 

 
3.0 PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 The proposed development comprises of the replacement of the 19 existing 

timber frame windows in flats 1 to 4 with vertically sliding sash uPVC 
Windows with 24mm double glazed units. 

 
3.2 The existing windows are a mix of painted timber sash windows, 

characteristic of the conservation area, and more recent top hung lights in 
the bay windows. All proposed windows would be sliding sash. 

 

 
4.0 HISTORY 
 
4.1 RR/2020/56/P - Removal of chimney (retrospective), Approved 
 

 
5.0 POLICIES 
 
5.1 The following policies of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 are 

relevant to the proposal: 

 OSS4: General Development Considerations 

 EN2: Stewardship of the Historic Built Environment 

 EN3: Design Quality 

 BX2: Bexhill Town Centre 
 
5.2 The following policies of the Development and Site Allocations Local Plan 

are relevant to the proposal: 

 DHG9: Extensions, Alterations and Outbuildings 
 
5.3 The National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Policy Guidance are 

also material considerations.  
 
5.4 Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 confers a statutory duty to local planning authorities when exercising 
planning functions, to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of that area. 

Page 55

http://www.rother.gov.uk/CoreStrategy
http://www.rother.gov.uk/dasa


pl200716 – RR/2020/485/P 

 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.1 Planning Notice – NO COMMENTS 
 

 
7.0 APPRAISAL 
 
7.1 Due to COVID-19 officers have been unable to carry out a site visit from 

within the building, although an external site visit was carried out and this 
visit has been supplemented by photographs supplied with the application. It 
should be noted that officers have not been able to closely inspect the 
windows but it is officers’ considered view that that the signs of wear on the 
window are due to paint peeling due to long term lack of maintenance and 
that if damaged, could be easily repaired. 

 
7.2 Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Conservation Area 
 
7.2.1 The main issue for consideration with this application is whether the 

proposed development would preserve or enhance the character and 
appearance of the Bexhill Town Centre Conservation Area. If any harm is 
less than substantial, this harm should be weighed against any public benefit 
of the application. 

 
7.2.2 Policy EN2 (Stewardship of the Historic Built Environment) of the Rother 

District Local Plan – Core Strategy requires development to: ‘(ii) take 
opportunities to improve areas of poor visual character or with poor 
townscape qualities and (iii) preserve, and ensure clear legibility of, locally 
distinctive vernacular building forms and their settings, features, fabric and 
materials, including forms specific to historic building typologies.’ 

 
7.2.3 Policy BX2 (Bexhill Town Centre) of the Rother District Local Plan – Core 

Strategy, requires development to: ‘(vi) Ensure that development and 
change respects and, where appropriate, enhances the late 
Victorian/Edwardian character of the Conservation Area.’ 

 
7.2.4 While the building is not listed, the legislative requirement to preserve or 

enhance the character or appearance of a conservation area relates to all 
buildings and as such, the buildings that comprise the conservation area, 
unlike a listed building, cannot be considered in isolation. The architectural 
merits of each building are secondary when considering the overall character 
of the area. This is especially true when considering elements common to all 
buildings such as doors, windows, roofs, etc. 

 
7.2.5 Having carried out a survey of the adjacent buildings (when facing the 

building) on either side, and the NatWest Bank on the other side of Western 
Road, it is noted that all have timber windows, save those above Burgess & 
Co, and as such there is a strong consistency of fenestration with its 
neighbours. Opposite too, above The Devonshire, only a few windows have 
been changed to uPVC.  

 
7.2.6 The characteristics of timber sash windows are as follows and these aspects 

are considered below: 
 

Page 56



pl200716 – RR/2020/485/P 

 Textured timber finish 

 Slender profiles 

 Historic detailing 

 Minimum depth due to single glazing. 
 

 Textured timber finish 
7.2.7 uPVC has a flat texture, very different to the painted timber sashes that 

characterise the conservation area. This difference is very noticeable and 
one of the main reasons that uPVC does not replicate this characteristic. The 
material does not weather attractively but deteriorates. It also attracts dirt 
very easily, which accumulates in the crevices where the different 
construction elements join, and yellows over time, especially if not cleaned 
regularly.  

 
7.2.8 An inspector refusing an application for uPVC windows in a conservation 

area in Exeter (see Appeal reference APP/Y1110/D/11/2144644) when 
considering windows not dissimilar to those proposed here advised: “The 
uPVC replacement windows, that the appellant wishes to install, are 
intended to be sympathetic to the building and to the wider CA. I accept that 
they would be less bulky and awkward in appearance than some earlier 
designs, and that their sliding sashes would reflect existing arrangements, 
but their sterile finish would be unlike painted wood and this would 
undermine the building’s contribution to the CA”. This flat finish can readily 
be seen even at a distance. 

 
 Slender profiles 
7.2.9 The characteristic slenderness of timber sash windows is possible because 

they support 4mm single glazing. In order to support the weight of a 24mm 
double glazed unit, the frames need to be considerably sturdier than the 
existing windows. They also need to be larger as the frames are constructed 
from a series of moulded elements. The relationship of the frame to glass 
area is therefore changed considerably. It is the elegance and simple profiles 
of timber frame sashes that are a key element of their character. 

 
7.2.10 The vertical cross-sections of the proposed windows differ greatly to single 

glazed timber windows. The proposed meeting rail would be just under twice 
as thick as on a typical timber window. This almost doubling of the profile is 
very significant when considering the visual impact of the window. 

 
7.2.11 The depth of the window across the two meeting rails would be 137mm in 

each of the proposed windows compared to 94mm on a typical timber 
window. In the timber window, the depth is created largely by the attractive 
frame moulding but in the uPVC double glazed version, the depth is created 
by the glass unit itself, highlighting the spacer bar and the lack of moulding. 
The jambs of the frames would also be considerably larger which overall 
gives the impression of less window pane and more frame – a different 
appearance. 

 
 Historic detailing 
7.2.12 A timber frames visual interest lies in the moulding detail which surrounds 

the entire frame on both the bottom and top sashes. The frame moulding 
detail is completely different on the proposed uPVC window and about ¼ of 
the depth. This is because the bulk of the window depth is made up of the 
24mm double glazed unit inserted in its place. A shallow moulded bead is 

Page 57



pl200716 – RR/2020/485/P 

then clipped on to have something of the effect of the original moulding but 
has nothing of the effect of the original detail. 

 
7.2.13 Historic detailing also includes a putty finish, which seals the glass to the 

frame and prevents any draughts or water ingress into the frame. It is itself of 
visual interest. This detail is replaced with a ‘replica’ putty detail which is also 
in uPVC so that there is no visual ‘interruption’ between the timber frame and 
the glass unit. Overall, this lack of detail gives a very different character and 
appearance to each proposed window and, cumulatively, undermines and 
harms a key characteristic of the conservation area. 

 
 The depth of the glazed unit 
7.2.14 The thick double-glazed unit is perhaps one of the most harmful and 

obtrusive features when considering the impact of the proposals on the 
conservation area. The visual impact of a double-glazed unit on a uPVC 
window is entirely different to that of a single glazed unit on a timber window. 
The proposed units require a thick and obtrusive spacer bar which has a 
very different visual impact to single pane, or even slim double-glazed units, 
and detracts significantly from the character and appearance of the 
conservation area. 

 
7.2.15 Another significant concern with the double-glazed units is the very different 

way in which light reflects and refracts when compared to a single glazed 
unit (and in relation to a slim double-glazed unit).  The proposed 24mm 
double glazed units would result in double reflections seen from both sides 
drawing attention to the incongruity of the windows in relation to the 
consistency of fenestration seen in its neighbours. 

 
 Summary 
7.2.16 These variations in texture, section size, detailing and depth, result 

cumulatively in a very different window to the ones that it replaces. The 
visual interest and elegance is lost. Windows are the eyes of the building 
(the word originates from the Old Norse 'vindauga', from 'vindr – wind' and 
'auga – eye', i.e., wind eye), and as such, it is important that they suit the 
building they are designed for. There are a finite number of features on a 
building: windows, doors and walls. Changing any one of these three, 
changes the whole character of the building. Cumulatively, if done badly, 
these changes will erode the character and appearance of conservation 
areas to the extent that they will no longer be valued as conservation areas. 

 
7.2.17 The Bexhill Town Centre Conservation Area Appraisal advises that the use 

of modern materials for windows contributes to the detrimental features in 
the conservation area. Other elements include altered or modern shopfronts 
with incorrect details.  The Appraisal, written in 2004 advises that the area of 
Bexhill ‘has not until quite recently been recognised as being special in any 
way’. Many of the windows which harm the character of the conservation 
area are likely to have been changed prior to the designation of the 
conservation area.  

 
7.2.18 Although there are some uPVC windows in the conservation area, this does 

not justify the installation of further uPVC windows. The further loss of the 
characteristics and appearance of timbers windows will erode the character 
of the conservation area. The Bexhill Town Centre Conservation Area 
Appraisal is clear on this. 

Page 58



pl200716 – RR/2020/485/P 

7.2.19 In summary, approval of the proposed windows would be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the Bexhill Town Centre Conservation Area, 
failing to preserve or enhance it and contrary to Policies EN2 and BX2 of the 
Rother District Local Plan – Core Strategy, as well as to the statutory duty 
conferred on local planning authorities in the 1990 Act to pay special 
attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that area. 

 
7.3 Energy Efficiency 
 
7.3.1 The Design and Access Statement submitted with the application states that 

“The benefits of uPVC heritage windows are that they are sustainable, will 
offer improved thermal and acoustic performance and are low maintenance.” 

 
7.3.2 The accuracy of this broad statement is questionable. There are many ways 

to improve energy efficiency in buildings. Improving the performance of 
windows is just one of them.  Historic England, for example, recommends 
the installation of wall and roof insulation and secondary glazing and/or 
shutters. Another option is the installation of magnetic-strip secondary 
glazing, which is very cheap to install, is very effective, and can be removed 
in the summer months. According to one website, double glazing reduces 
heat loss by 55% (U-value 3.14) and secondary magnetic glazing reduces 
heat loss by 63% (U-value 2.70). Secondary magnetic glazing is virtually 
invisible from exterior and interior views and does not require planning 
permission to install. 

 
7.3.3 Only 4.8% of Great Britain’s total housing stock is in conservation areas, and 

when considering energy efficiency and the considerations above, there is a 
strong argument that any loss in energy efficiency from retaining single 
glazed timber windows is outweighed by the historic benefits of their 
preservation. 

 
7.3.4 That the character and appearance of a conservation area is considered 

more important by legislation than energy efficiency, can be seen in the 
Building Regulations.  Part L of the Building Regulations advises that listed 
building and buildings in conservation areas are exempt from meeting the 
minimum requirements set out in Part L where to meet these requirements 
would unacceptably alter their character and appearance. As noted above 
there are many ways to meet the requirements of Part L without replacing or 
upgrading windows. 

 
7.3.5 Nonetheless if upgrading or replacing windows does preserve the character 

and appearance of the conservation area, this upgrading should be 
supported. Slim double-glazed units with a 6mm cavity fitted in a timber 
frame do comply with Document L to achieve an overall window U Value of 
1.6 and can be acceptable and this should be considered here. 

 
7.3.6 This is one of the benefits of timber. If timber fails, it can be repaired - a new 

piece can be scarfed in. This is not the case with uPVC which requires 
wholesale replacement if warped or damaged. Timber windows can also 
accommodate several different pieces of ironmongery, to reflect changing 
fashions over time. With uPVC this flexibility is not possible as the holes 
used to house the ironmongery cannot be moved or altered. A new 
proprietary fitting would be required and this is likely to be restricted to the 

Page 59



pl200716 – RR/2020/485/P 

make and model of the specific window and it is also likely that with the 
speed at which the models of uPVC window change, changing the 
ironmongery may not even be possible. Window furniture contributes 
significantly to the character of a building. It is not known whether the options 
available for the uPVC model proposed are in keeping with the Edwardian 
character of the conservation area. 

 
7.3.7 In summary, the energy efficiency of uPVC windows is just one characteristic 

and carries little weight when considering the impact of development on the 
character and appearance of a conservation area, especially given the wider 
sustainability benefits of utilising and repairing timber and the primacy of the 
requirements of the 1990 Act. 

 

 
8.0 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 
8.1 This proposal is for the replacement of the existing timber frame windows in 

flats 1 to 4 Devonshire Square with vertically sliding sash uPVC Windows. 
There are 19 windows and they relate to the flats on the upper (first and 
second) floors located within a mixed commercial and residential property. 
The property, although not listed, occupies a prominent corner position 
within the Bexhill Town Centre Conservation Area, on Devonshire Square. 

 
8.2 While of a ‘heritage style’, the proposed uPVC window frames fail to 

replicate the characteristics of timber sash windows due to their flat texture, 
large section size, lack of historic detailing and depth, which would 
cumulatively result in a very different window appearance to the existing 
timber windows which they would replace. Given the prominent location of 
the building within the Conservation Area, the 19 uPVC windows proposed 
would erode the character and appearance of the Conservation Area 
contrary to adopted Policy EN2 of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy and 
to the statutory duty conferred on Local Planning Authorities by Section 72 of 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, when 
exercising planning functions, to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area. 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE (PLANNING PERMISSION)  
 

 
1. The 19 proposed uPVC sliding sash double glazed windows by reason of 

their thicker, heavy frames and specifications would result in unsympathetic, 
obtrusive fenestration that would not reflect the original slim and elegant 
sections of the timber sliding sash windows. The proposal would erode the 
character and appearance of the Bexhill Town Centre Conservation area, 
contrary to Policies EN2 (ii) and BX2 (vi) of the Rother District Local Plan 
Core Strategy, paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework., 
and section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990. 

 
NOTE: 
 
1. This refusal relates to the following plans and drawings: 

Proposed Plans, Drawing No. 19.138.2.F dated November 2019. 

Page 60



pl200716 – RR/2020/485/P 

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK: In accordance with the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 38) and with the 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2015, the Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in 
determining this application by identifying matters of concern with the proposal and 
discussing those with the Applicant. However, the issues are so fundamental to the 
proposal that it has not been possible to negotiate a satisfactory way forward and 
due to the harm which has been clearly identified within the reason for the refusal, 
approval has not been possible.  

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



pl200716 – RR/2020/458/P 

  

Page 63

Agenda Item 10



pl200716 – RR/2020/458/P 

Rother District Council 
 

Report to   -  Planning Committee 

Date    - 16 July 2020 

Report of the  -  Executive Director 

Subject - Application RR/2020/458/P 

Address - Covertside, Powdermill Lane 

  CATSFIELD 

Proposal - Variation of Condition 2 on RR/2016/160/P to remove link 
and relocate garage/studio away from main dwelling. 

View application/correspondence 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  It be RESOLVED to GRANT (FULL PLANNING) 
 

 
Head of Service: Tim Hickling 
 

 
Applicant:   Mr S. Anthony & Ms J. Lavocah 
Agent: Mr J. Waterhouse 
Case Officer: Mr M. Worsley 

(Email: matthew.worsley@rother.gov.uk) 
Parish: CATSFIELD 
Ward Member: Councillor G.C. Curtis 
 
Reason for Committee consideration:  Head of Service Strategy & Planning 
referral: Applicant is related to a member of staff 
 
Statutory 8 week date: 17 July 2020 
 

 
1.0 SUMMARY 
 
1.1 Planning permission RR/2016/160/P allowed for the demolition of an existing 

dwelling and construction of a new two-storey, detached, 4-bedroom house 
and double garage. 

 
1.2 This amendment application, which now proposes removing the link 

previously proposed between the dwelling and garage/studio building, would 
have a very similar impact on the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB), the condition of the oak tree to the frontage and the living conditions 
of occupants of neighbouring properties to the scheme originally granted 
under RR/2016/160/P. 

 
1.3 The proposal complies with policies contained within the Core Strategy and 

the Development and Site Allocations (DaSA), together with the various 
provisions set out within the National Planning Policy Framework, and 
therefore the application can be supported. 

 

Page 64

http://planweb01.rother.gov.uk/OcellaWeb/planningDetails?reference=RR/2020/458/P
mailto:matthew.worsley@rother.gov.uk


pl200716 – RR/2020/458/P 

2.0 SITE 
 
2.1 The site lies to the north of Powdermill Lane around 250m east of the junction 

with the B2204. It is located within the countryside and is within the High 
Weald AONB. A replacement dwelling was granted on the site in 2016 
(RR/2016/160/P) which is nearing completion. 

 

 
3.0 PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 Permission is sought to remove a roof canopy link between the new dwelling 

and ancillary garage and studio building, with the garage building in turn being 
moved around 5m south of the front elevation of the dwelling. This would 
result in the garage and studio building being positioned around 20.5m from 
the site frontage.  

 
3.2 The application is accompanied by a block plan showing the position of the 

detached garage and studio building in relation to the dwelling together with 
elevation plans of the garage and studio building. However, at the time of 
writing this report, no drawings have been provided for the elevations of the 
dwelling with the linked garage and studio building removed. As discussed 
below, the proposed amendment is acceptable but, for clarity, additional 
drawings have been requested from the agent to ensure there is no ambiguity 
regarding the proposed changes to the dwelling design. 

 

 
4.0 HISTORY 
 
4.1 RR/2016/160/P   Demolition of existing dwelling and construction of new 

two storey detached 4 bedroom house and double 
garage. Temporary caravan for the duration of the 
construction works – Approved Conditional. 

 
4.2  RR/2018/804/P Variation of Condition 2 imposed on RR/2016/160/P to re-

site the proposed dwelling by 1.6m from the eastern 
boundary and 1.8m back into the site – Approved 
Conditional. 

 
4.3 RR/2018/1318/P Variation of Condition 2 imposed on RR/2016/160/P to 

allow slate roof tiles – Refused. 
 
4.4 RR/2018/2094/P Variation of Condition 2 imposed on RR/2016/160/P to 

allow additional front dormer and removal of rear dormer 
– Approved Conditional. 

 

 
5.0 POLICIES 
 
5.1 The following policies of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 are 

relevant to the proposal: 

 OSS4 (general development considerations) 

 RA3 (development within the countryside) 

 EN1 (landscape stewardship) 

 EN3 (design quality) 

Page 65

http://www.rother.gov.uk/CoreStrategy


pl200716 – RR/2020/458/P 

 EN5 (biodiversity and green space) 
 
5.2 The following policies of the Development and Site Allocations Local Plan are 

relevant to the proposal: 

 DEN1 (maintaining landscape character) 

 DEN2 (AONB) 

 DEN4 (biodiversity and green space) 
 
5.3 The High Weald Management Plan 2019 – 2024, National Planning Policy 

Framework and Planning Policy Guidance are also material considerations. 
 

 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.1 Planning Notice 
 
6.1.1 One objection received. The comments are summarised as follows: 

 Strongly object to this application to move the double garage and studio 
closer to the road boundary. 

 Moving it just these few metres will place it in clear view of our main living 
room windows and interrupt our view.  

 It should remain as original plan attached to the house and in line with or 
behind footprint of original bungalow. 

 
6.2 Town/Parish Council – GENERAL COMMENT 
 
6.2.1 No objection subject to the garage being tied to the property so that it cannot 

be sold separately. 
 

 
7.0 APPRAISAL 
 
7.1 The main issues to consider in the determination of this application include 

the impact of the proposal on: 

 The character and appearance of the locality, including the landscape and 
scenic beauty of the AONB. 

 The condition of the oak tree on the site frontage. 

 The living conditions of occupants of neighbouring properties. 
 
7.2 Character and appearance 
 
7.2.1 This section of Powdermill Lane is semi-rural in character with a variety of 

residential properties present on both sides of the road. There are examples 
of large dwellings occupying large plots together with more modestly sized 
dwellings occupying smaller plots. Beyond the dwellings fronting the road are 
irregular shaped fields and pockets of woodland, typical of the AONB 
landscape.  

 
7.2.2 A relatively large replacement dwelling with attached garage with studio 

above was granted planning permission under reference RR/2016/160/P. 
Subsequent amendments have involved repositioning the dwelling further 
back into the site and adding dormer windows. 

 

Page 66

http://www.rother.gov.uk/dasa


pl200716 – RR/2020/458/P 

7.2.3 In the original 2016 scheme the attached garage was set back around 24.5m 
from the road. The amendments made in 2018 resulted in the garage being 
set back from the road by approximately 27m. The current proposal seeks 
permission to position the garage around 20.5m from the road and remove 
the roof canopy link to the dwelling. 

 
7.2.4 The overall scale and design of the garage and studio would remain the same 

as that granted in 2016. Whilst the detached building would be relatively large 
in comparison to the dwelling it would relate to, it would still appear 
subservient and would not appear as a separate dwelling or independent unit 
of accommodation. If permission is granted a condition could be imposed to 
ensure the building remained in an ancillary use. 

 
7.2.5 In terms of the set back from the road, although further forward of the main 

dwelling than previously approved, 20.5m is still a substantial setback and 
there are examples nearby of other properties much closer to the road.  

 
7.2.6 Removing the link and positioning the garage and studio building slightly 

closer to the road would have very little impact on the character and 
appearance of the locality and would not cause harm to the landscape and 
scenic beauty of the AONB. 

 
7.3 Impact on oak tree on frontage 
 
7.3.1 The application for the replacement dwelling made in 2016 was accompanied 

by an arboricultural report which assessed the impact of the proposed 
development on trees within and adjacent to the site, including the oak tree on 
the site frontage.  

 
7.3.2 The proposed re-siting of the garage and studio building would move it around 

4m closer to the oak tree than granted in 2016. However, it would still be 
outside of the root protection area and would therefore not adversely impact 
upon the condition of the tree.  

 
7.3.3 Condition 3 of the original permission secured tree protection measures 

detailed in the arboricultural report, which would still be applicable to this 
revised scheme. 

 
7.4 Living conditions 
 
7.4.1 Concerns have been raised by the neighbouring property to the west ‘Byways’ 

in relation to moving the garage and studio building further south, which they 
believe would result in the view from their living room being lost. 

 
7.4.2 Firstly, loss of a view is not a material planning consideration but. having 

regard to impact on residential outlook, the east side elevation of ‘Byways’ is 
positioned around 12m from the shared boundary with ‘Covertside’. The 
proposed garage would be positioned on the eastern side of the site around 
20m from the shared boundary with ‘Byways’. This is a significant separation. 
In addition, ‘Byways is positioned much closer to the road than the 
repositioned garage and any views from the living room windows would be at 
an angle. There is also a good level of vegetation screening on the shared 
boundary. 

 

Page 67



pl200716 – RR/2020/458/P 

7.4.3 For the reasons set out above, the repositioned garage would not adversely 
impact on the living conditions of ‘Byways’ in terms of appearing overbearing 
or causing an unacceptable loss of outlook. 

 
7.4.4 The neighbouring property to the east, ‘Glenwood’ is positioned around 35m 

from the shared boundary with ‘Covertside’. The repositioned garage and 
studio building would have a very similar impact as the scheme granted in 
2016 and would not adversely impact on the living conditions of the occupants 
of Glenwood’.  

 

 
8.0 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 
8.1 The proposal to remove the link between the dwelling and garage/studio 

building, and to position the garage building further forward of the dwelling, 
would have a very similar impact on the AONB, the condition of the oak tree 
to the frontage and the living conditions of occupants of neighbouring 
properties to the scheme originally granted under RR/2016/160/P. 

 
8.2 The proposal complies with policies contained within the Core Strategy and 

the DaSA, together with the various provisions set out within the National 
Planning Policy Framework, and therefore the application can be supported. 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT (FULL PLANNING) DELEGATED (RECEIPT OF 
ADDITIONAL PLAN TO SHOW REVISED DWELLING DESIGN)  
 

 
CONDITIONS: 
 
Repeated conditions: 
 
1. The development shall not proceed other than in accordance with Conditions 

1 and 3-9 inclusive, imposed on planning permission RR/2016/160/P, dated 6 
February 2017 which remain in full force and effect.  
Reason: This permission is granted pursuant to planning permission 
RR/2016/160/P, dated 6 February 2017. Under Section 73 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 the Council has considered the conditions subject 
to which that previous planning permission was granted and confirms that the 
conditions and associated reasons remain pertinent and are re-imposed, 
apart from as varied by this permission.  

 
Condition 2 of RR/2016/160/P is varied as follows: 
 
2.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans and details: 
Drawing No. 20.181.1.A dated March 2020 
Requested from agent: elevation plans of dwelling 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning, as 
advised in Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 022 Reference ID: 21a-
022-20140306. 

 
 
 

Page 68



pl200716 – RR/2020/458/P 

New condition: 
 
10.  The detached garage and studio building hereby permitted shall be used only 

for purposes incidental to the occupation and enjoyment of the dwelling as 
such, and not for any trade or business. 
Reason: In the interests of protecting the character of the area and the 
residential amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy 
OSS4 (ii) and (iii) of the Rother Local Plan Core Strategy.  

 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK: In accordance with the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 38) and with the 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2015, the Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in 
determining this application by assessing the proposal against all material 
considerations, including planning policies and any representations that  have been 
received and subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance 
with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



pl200716 – Comparative Stats 2019 

Rother District Council  
 
Report to  - Planning Committee  

Date  - 16 July 2020 

Report of the  - Executive Director 

Subject  - Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government 
Comparative Planning Statistics 2019   

 

 
Recommendation: It be RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 
 

 
Head of Service:  Tim Hickling 
 

 
January – December 2019 

 
Planning Applications Received 
 

 
 
 
Decisions Issued - Percentage of Decisions issued within agreed timeframe  
 

 

1,179

454

1,107

1,469

2,334

1,378

543
846

642

1,557

521

1,601 1,673

2,034

791

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

Jan - Dec 2019 
Applications received

86%
96% 90%

79% 83% 88% 86%

58%

78%

97%

72%

98% 93% 88% 92%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

2019 
% Total Decisions issued within agreed timeframe

Page 71

Agenda Item 11



pl200716 – Comparative Stats 2019 

% Major decisions issued within agreed timeframe 
 

 
 
 
% Minor decisions issued within agreed timeframe 
 

 
 
 
% Other decisions issued within agreed timeframes 
 

 
 

85%
71%

90%

56%

90% 95%
82%

90% 88%
100%

73%

98% 95% 91% 86%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

2019 
Major Applications

82%
93% 91%

72%
86% 81% 78%

61%
74%

97%

64%

98% 95%
78%

87%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

2019 
Minor Applications

89%
97% 91%

84% 82%
92% 93%

56%

80%

98%

76%

99% 96% 92% 95%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

2019 
Other Applications

Page 72



pl200716 - Appeals 

Rother District Council   
 

Report to   - Planning Committee 

Date   - 16 July 2020 

Report of the  - Executive Director 

Subject  - Appeals 

 

 
Recommendation: It be RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 
 

 
Head of Service: Tim Hickling  
 

 
APPEALS LODGED 
 
RR/2019/2380/P BATTLE: 41 North Trade Road, Oast House, Lower Almonry,  
(Delegation) Farm, Battle 

Conversion of historic agricultural building to residential use 
with extension including basement and lightwells. 
Mr and Mrs Roger and Karen Soan 

 
RR/2019/2126/P BATTLE: Hughs’ Field, Land opposite Caldbec House,  
(Delegation) Caldbec Hill, Battle 

Residential development of 5 No. dwellings served by 
upgraded existing field access, together with erection of 
tractor shed and stable building. 
Mr N. Whistler 

 
RR/2019/581/P BEXHILL: 128 Dorset Road, Lindsay Hall, Bexhill  
(Delegation) Erection of 3 No. dwellings together with access drive and 

parking spaces to rear garden with access via Tiverton 
Drive. 

 
RR/2019/2192/P BEXHILL: 45 Sea Road, Bexhill 
(Delegation) Drop kerb to front of property to create off road parking. 

Ms Alison Fowler 
 
RR/2019/2193/P BURWASH: British Red Cross Society Centre, Highfields, 
(Delegation) Burwash 

Removal of an old timber structure and replacement with two 
semi-detached small dwellings. 
Matrix Claim Services 

 
RR/2019/2525/P MOUNTFIELD: Park Pale Meadow, Mountfield Lane, 
(Committee - Mountfield 
Reversal) Removal of Conditions 6 and 7 imposed on 

RR/2019/1370/P. 
Ms Sam Swift 

 
 
 

Page 73

Agenda Item 12



pl200716 - Appeals 

RR/2019/2716/P NORTHIAM: Rother Valley Caravan and Camping Park,  
(Delegation) Station Road, Northiam 

Siting of 8 No. additional static caravans. 
Mr M. Sulman 

 
RR/2019/2853/P NORTHIAM: Cartref, Dixter Lane, Northiam 
(Delegation) Erection of a wooden motorbike garage. 

Mrs Lisa Hooper 
 
RR/2019/306/P SEDLESCOMBE: The Oast, Battle Barn Farm, New Road, 
(Delegation) Sedlescombe 

Reinstatement of cast roundel including conical roof and 
cowl.  Replacement of concrete tiled roof with clay tiles.  
Demolition of existing conservatory, erection of new 
orangery and ground floor bedroom.  Cladding of first floor of 
main building. 
Mr Michael Ashenheim 

 
 
APPEALS STARTED 
 
RR/2019/2419/P BEXHILL: 1 Danecourt Close, Bexhill 
(Non-determination) Demolition of garage.  Erection of bungalow with access 

from Woodgate Park and new off-road area for existing 
dwelling with access from Danecourt Close. 
Mr and Mrs J. Usherwood 

 
RR/2019/1390/P CAMBER: The Sutton Point, The Suttons, Camber  
(Delegation) Proposed three storey extension including new roof and 

internal re-modelling. 
Mr Colin Smith 

 
RR/2020/225/O HURST GREEN: Silverhill Pump House Business Unit,  
(Delegation) Bodiam Road, Silverhill, Hurst Green 

Lawful development certificate for proposed permeable hard 
standing for Business Unit. 
Ms E. Beckford 

 
RR/2020/226/O HURST GREEN: Silverhill Pump House Business Unit,  
(Delegation) Bodiam Road, Silverhill, Hurst Green 

Lawful development certificate for proposed B8 Business 
Unit. 
Ms E. Beckford 

 
RR/2019/2578/P RYE: 149 Pottingfield Road, Rye 
(Delegation) Demolition of existing attached garage to be replaced with a 

self-contained end of terrace 2 bed family dwelling house 
and alteration of host dwelling to change it to a 3 bed mid 
terraced house. 
Mrs Sharon Gonza and Mr T. Peters 

 
 
 
 

Page 74



pl200716 - Appeals 

APPEALS ALLOWED 
 
RR/2019/581/P BEXHILL: 128 Dorset Road, Lindsay Hall, Bexhill 
(Delegation) Erection of 3 No. dwellings together with access drive and 

parking spaces to rear garden with access via Tiverton 
Drive. 
Complete Building Design Limited 

 
 
APPEALS DISMISSED 
 
NONE 
 
 
APPEALS WITHDRAWN 
 
NONE 
 
 
FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES 
 
RR/2019/2250/DC BEXHILL: Buckholt Lane – Land at 

Submission of details reserved by Conditions 8, 9, 10, 15 
and 29 imposed on RR/2017/2181/P. 
 

RR/2019/2014/T GUESTLING: Little Broomham – Land in front, Church Lane 
Hedge clipping to all sides and tops of Holly hedges. 

 
RR/2019/1814/T SALEHURST/ROBERTSBRIDGE: 1 Blenheim Court, George 

Hill 
T1 – Horse Chestnut Tree – Fell. 
 
Details of the above Hearings/Inquiries to be confirmed by 
Planning Inspectorate. 

 
 
 
Dr Anthony Leonard 
Executive Director  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Planning Applications - Index
	7 RR/2017/457/P - Fairlight - Former Market Garden, Lower Waites Lane
	8 RR/2020/296/P - Bexhill - Little Common Recreation Ground, Green Lane
	9 RR/2020/485/P - Bexhill - 1a Devonshire Square, Flats 1-4
	10 RR/2020/458/P - Catsfield - Covertside, Powdermill Lane
	11 Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government Comparative Planning Statistics 2019
	12 Appeals

